THE POTENTIAL PROTECTIVE ROLE OF CAVEOLIN-1 IN

INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION IN EXPERIMENTAL COLITIS

BY

CAROLYN RUTH WEISS, BSc Hons

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF IMMUNOLOGY UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA WINNIPEG, MANITOBA

Copyright © 2012 by Carolyn R. Weiss

Abstract

Background: Caveolin-1 (Cav-1), the major component of caveolae, is a multifunctional scaffolding protein that serves as a platform for the cell's signal-transduction and plays a role in inflammation. However, its role in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), a chronic inflammatory condition in the gastrointestinal tract, is not clear. A recent study shows that Cav-1 mediates angiogenesis in dextran sodium sulphate (DSS)-induced colitis. These results contradict our data, in which Cav-1 levels decreased significantly in 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis.

Methods: To test whether Cav-1 is involved in IBD pathogenesis, various models representing different dominant Th subtype responses and mimicking the immune pathologic mechanisms of different clinical IBD setting were employed: acute colitis was induced by intra-rectal administration of a single dose of TNBS in BALB/c and C57BL/6J mice, or by drinking 3% DSS water for 6 days in C57BL/6J mice. Chronic colitis was induced by administration of TNBS once a week for 7 weeks in BALB/c mice. To assess the effects of complete loss of Cav-1, Cav-1 knock-out (Cav-1^{-/-}) and control wild-type C57BL/6J mice received a single TNBS administration. To further test the possible role of Cav-1, one of two peptides (that either mimicked (Caveolin scaffolding domain; CSD) or

antagonized (Caveolin-1 binding domain; CBD1) Cav-1)) was administered intraperitoneally to mice receiving TNBS. Body weight and clinical scores were monitored. Colon Cav-1 and pro-inflammatory cytokine levels were quantified by ELISA. Inflammation was evaluated through histological analysis.

Results: Cav-1 levels in mouse colon tissue were significantly decreased in TNBS-induced colitis mice when compared to normal mice and also inversely correlated with colon inflammation and cytokine levels. Furthermore, a loss of Cav-1 (Cav-1^{-/-}) showed increased clinical and inflammatory scores and increased body weight loss. Mice receiving peptides to alter Cav-1 levels, showed surprising effects. The mimicking peptide (CSD) showed decreased Cav-1 levels, while the antagonizing peptide (CBD1) showed increased Cav-1 levels. These changes in levels were associated with clinical and inflammatory scores and body weight loss that supported the TNBS-induced data. DSS-induced colitis mice showed increased disease activity index, however no significant difference in Cav-1 levels was found between colitis and normal mice.

Conclusions: Cav-1 plays an important role in the protection of TNBSinduced colitis, but not in DSS-induced colitis, an entirely different result from a previous report, suggesting that enhancement of Cav-1 expression and functions may be beneficial to IBD treatment in some specific clinical settings. Further studies are warranted.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Zhikang Peng. Her expertise and support was crucial in the completion of this project. I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Kent HayGlass and Dr. Andrew Halayko for their willingness to serve on my committee, for giving me helpful comments, and for checking up on me regularly. Your knowledge and concern was accepted most gratefully.

I would especially like to thank Yanbing Ma and Qingdong Guan for all of their help in the lab and for teaching me all the technical skills required to complete this research. Their patience with me was invaluable for this entire process and their help in performing and analyzing the various methods, finding information and answering all my questions has been so amazing.

Thank you also to the Manitoba Institute of Child Health at the John Buhler Research Centre for the use of their facility and equipment and to the Canadian Institutes for Health Research for funding this project. Also thank you to the Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of Canada and MICH for funding me, so that I may focus on my grad work.

Finally, I would like to show my appreciation for everyone who supported me throughout this endeavor. Especially to Sandrine, Rachael, and Samantha, who helped me with experiment troubles and then did the amazing task of proofing my thesis. I owe you! I want to thank the coffee break team for helping to keep my soul in my body, comparing my life to timbits, and just being there to listen. I have made friendships that will truly stand the test of time.

I would like to thank my friends outside of school – because maybe now we can be friends again and hang out more often than once every three months!

A tremendous thank you especially goes out to my Mother and Father for dealing with me as a crazy person, for all the encouragement, and for letting me live in their home for the journey. I couldn't have made it this far without you!

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
TABLE OF FIGURES	8
TABLE OF TABLES	
COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	13
	14
I. IMMUNE DISORDERS	14
a. Adaptive immune system dysregulation	16
II. INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE	
a. Epidemiology	
b. Clinical manifestations	19
c. Pathogenesis of IBD	21
i. Genetic factors	
ii. Microbial Factors	
iii. Other environmental factors	
iv. Immunological Abnormalities	25
d. Animal Models	
III. CURRENT BIOLOGICAL THERAPIES FOR IBD	
IV. CAVEOLAE AND CAV-1	
a. Caveolae structure	
b. Caveolae functions	
i. Caveolae endocytosis	
ii. Caveolae signalling	
c. Caveolin Scaffoldina Domain & Cav-1 Bindina Domain	
d. Cav-1 & Disease	
e. Cav-1 and Inflammatory Bowel Disease	
RESEARCH RATIONALE	
HYPOTHESIS	
STUDY PLAN AND ENDEAVOURS	55

SPECIF	IC AIMS	57
METHO)DS	.58
I.	Animals	.58
II.	PROTOCOLS FOR INDUCTION OF COLITIS	59
III.	CAV-1 PEPTIDES	.61
IV.	Peptide Treatment	.62
V.	BODY WEIGHT AND CLINICAL SCORES	.63
VI.	HISTOLOGICAL EXAMINATION	.64
VII.	PREPARATION OF COLON TISSUE EXTRACTS	.64
VIII.	MEASUREMENT OF CYTOKINES BY ENZYME LINKED IMMUNOSORBENT ASSAYS	
(ELIS	SA)	65
IX.	MEASUREMENT OF CAV-1 LEVELS BY ELISA	65
Х.	DETECTION OF CAV-1 BY WESTERN BLOT	.67
XI.	STATISTICAL ANALYSES	.68
RESUL	TS	.69
I.	TNBS-INDUCED COLITIS IN BALB/C MICE	.69
а.	Body weight loss, colon inflammation and cytokine levels are	
	significantly increased in mice receiving TNBS	. 69
b.	Cav-1 levels were reduced and inversely correlated with inflammation	
	and cytokine levels in TNBS-induced colitis	. 73
II.	TNBS-INDUCED COLITIS IN C57BL/6J & CAV-1 KNOCKOUT MICE (CAV-1-/-)	.76
а.	Genetic deletion of Cav-1 results in increased clinical symptoms	. 76
b.	Cav-1 levels are decreased in TNBS-induced C57BL/6J mice	.77
III.	DSS-INDUCED COLITIS IN C57BL/6J MICE	.81
а.	Cav-1 expression shows no significant difference between groups	.81
IV.	Cell permeable peptides CSD and CBD1	.84
а.	Cav-1 peptides altered the clinical symptoms of TNBS-induced acute	
	colitis in Balb/c mice	. 84
b.	Cav-1 levels are altered with cell permeable peptides; correlate with	
	inflammatory scores	.86
DISCUS	SSION	.87
CONCL	USION	.98
REFER	ENCES	.99

Table of Figures

0
Figure 1 : Inverse relation between the incidence of prototypical infectious diseases (A) and incidence of immune disorders (B) from 1950 to 2000. ³
Figure 2: The various afflicted locations of IBD. ¹
Figure 3: Caveolae structure. A) Electron micrograph of an endothelial cell showing caveolae. B) Primary structure and topology of Cav-1. C) Diagram comparing the biochemical composition of lipid rafts and caveolae. Oligomers of caveolin cause the formation of invaginations of the plasma membrane. ⁵
Figure 4: Proposed functions of caveolae and the caveolins. A) Certain molecules have been shown to be endocytosed via caveolae. B) Intracellular cholesterol is thought to be transported to plasma membrane caveolae via a golgi-independent caveolin-mediated route. C) Caveolae are now thought to act as entities in which signal transduction events can take place efficiently. ²
Figure 5 : Select signalling molecules concentrate in caveolae, where they are bound to the scaffolding domain (red) of caveolin-1 (CAV1). ⁴
Figure 6: Protocol of TNBS administration. (A) Acute. (B) Chronic
Figure 7: Protocol of TNBS-induction. (A) Anesthesia (B) Delivery of TNBS (C) Vertical holding (head down) to ensure complete entry of TNBS
Figure 8: Protocol of peptide administration (n=12)
Figure 9: Body weight changes measured through to week 7 of TNBS-induced chronic colitis. Experimental colitis was induced by TNBS, Balb/c mice (n=12) received weekly administrations of increasing doses of TNBS eight times (1.0 – 2.3 mg in 45% ethanol). Comparison of body weight between Normal and TNBS on day 49, to determine ability to recover body weight, resulted in p=0.02 70
Figure 10: Histological analysis of colon sections stained with H&E in TNBS- induced colitis in Balb/c mice (n=12). (A) Representative pictures of inflammation in mouse colon tissue, acute. Mice receiving TNBS had distorted tissue architecture and inflammatory cell infiltrates (arrow) (B) Representative pictures of inflammation in mouse colon tissue, chronic IBD. Mice receiving

(C) Semi-quantitative evaluation. Colon sections were semi-quantitatively evaluated double-blindly by a pathologist. Scores determined by severity of

TNBS had distorted tissue architecture and inflammatory cell infiltrates (arrow)

inflammation 0-3; depth of injury 0-3; and crypt damage 0-4. **P<0.01; ***P<0.001
Figure 11: Cytokine levels in TNBS-induced colitis Balb/c mice (n=12) homogenized colon tissue after receving TNBS-induced colitis for five days (acute) or seven weeks (chronic) Measured by sandwich ELISA. Each experiment was duplicated and performed in triplicate. Cytokine amount in extract was normalized to tissue weight, representing the amount per 100 grams. *P<0.05; **P<0.01
Figure 12: Detection of colon Cav-1 levels in TNBS-induced colitis in Balb/c mice (n=12) (A) Representative picture of Cav-1 levels detected by Westernblot. Three different mice for each group shown. Acute study. 3mg/ml loaded. (B) Cav-1 levels measured by ELISA. Acute and Chronic studies. ***P<0.001
Figure 13: Correlation of Cav-1 levels of TNBS-induced colitis in Balb/c mice (n=12) with (A) inflammation, acute; (B) inflammation, chronic; (C) cytokine levels, chronic
Figure 14 : Acute TNBS-induced colitis for C57BL/6J Cav-1 knockout mice (n= 9 (Cav-1 -/- TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS), n=3 (Cav-1 -/- normal), n=7 (wild-type normal)) (A) Body weight. **P<0.01, Cav-1 ^{-/-} TNBS vs WT Normal; ***P<0.001, Cav-1 ^{-/-} TNBS vo WT TNBS (B) Clinical Scores. *P<0.05, Cav-1 ^{-/-} TNBS vo WT TNBS vo WT TNBS
Figure 15: Histological analysis of colon sections stained with H&E in acute TNBS-induced colitis for Cav-1 knockout mice (n= 9 (Cav-1 -/- TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS), n=3 (Cav-1 -/- normal), n=7 (wild-type normal)) (A) Colonic specimens were formalin-fixed and embedded in paraffin blocks, then 6-µm

Figure 16: Detection of colon caveolin-1 levels in TNBS-induced colitis for C57BL/6J Cav-1 knockout mice (n= 9 (Cav-1 -/- TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS),

Figure 21: Colon Cav-1 levels for peptide injected acute TNBS-induced colitis,	
measured by ELISA (n=12)8	37

Table of Tables

Copyright Permissions

Figure 1 reprinted with permission from New England Journal of Medicine, Bach, 2002; 347:911-920. Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

Figure 2 reprinted from free access blogspot: Humanity First Serving Mankind, *Comparison between Crohn's Disease and Ulcerative Colitis*, 2011. http://medicinembbs.blogspot.ca/2011/01/comparison-between-crohndisease-and.html

Figure 3 reprinted with permission from Elsevier: Cell, *Emerging Themes in Lipid Rafts and Caveolae*, Galbiati, Razani & Lisanti 2001. License 3044990650958

Figure 4 reprinted with permission from Elsevier: Experimental Cell Research, *Caveolins and Caveolae: Molecular and Functional Relationships*, Razani & Lisanti, 2001. License number 3044990029598.

Figure 5 reprinted with permission from Nature: Nature Reviews Cancer, *Caveolae: mining little caves for new cancer.* Carver& Schnizter, 2003. License number 3043730919531.

List of Abbreviations

Cav-1:	caveolin-1
CD:	Crohn's disease
ELISA:	enzyme-linked immunoabsorbant assay
eNOS:	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
IBD:	inflammatory bowel disease
mAbs:	monoclonal antibodies
mg:	milligram
TGF-β1:	transforming growth factor-beta 1
μl:	microliter
UC:	ulcerative colitis

Introduction

I. Immune disorders

The term 'immunity' is derived from the Latin immunitas meaning exempt. Classical immunology studies the relationship among the body systems, pathogens, and immunity. The earliest written mention of immunity can be traced back to the plague of Athens in 430 BCE. The historian Thucydides noted that people who had recovered from a previous bout of the disease could nurse the sick without contracting the illness a second time.⁶ By the 19th and 20th centuries this theory had developed into scientific practice. In developed countries, new treatments and vaccines have caused many infectious diseases to enter remission or become almost completely eradicated. In 2000, mumps, measles, and tuberculosis had an extremely decreased incidence of infection compared to nearly 100 percent in 1950. Yet in that same time period, immune disorders have shown an opposite trend (Fig. 1). In the past 50 years, epidemiological data have provided strong evidence of a steady increase in allergic and autoimmune diseases in developed countries. Asthma, diabetes, and inflammatory bowel disease have increased exponentially. Today Crohn's disease has more than tripled in Europe since the 1950s.³



Figure 1: Inverse relation between the incidence of prototypical infectious diseases (A) and incidence of immune disorders (B) from 1950 to 2000.³

Protective immunity against microbes is mediated by the early reactions of innate immunity and the later responses of adaptive immunity. The immune system possesses several properties which are of fundamental importance for normal function: specificity for different antigens, a diverse repertoire of responses capable of recognizing a wide variety of antigens, antigen-specific memory, specialized responses to different microbes, self-limitation, and the ability to discriminate between foreign and self-antigens. Without all these qualities, the immune system would be unable to function effectively.⁷

Under normal conditions, the immune system recognizes foreign antigens and produces specific immune responses that protect the body from these substances, all the while remaining tolerant to self-antigens. An autoimmune disorder is a condition that occurs when the immune system mistakenly attacks and destroys healthy body tissue. Under certain conditions, the immune system cannot tell the difference between healthy body tissue and foreign antigens, and thus the body mounts an abnormal immune attack with antibodies against a person's own self-tissue antigens. The result is an immune response, called hypersensitivity, which destroys normal body tissues. This occurs in autoimmune diseases, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).^{7, 8}

a. Adaptive immune system dysregulation

Dysregulation of the innate immune system causes functional abnormalities of the adaptive immune system, which reveals many characteristics of chronic inflammatory processes in IBD.⁹

CD4⁺ T helper (Th) cells play a critical role in the orchestrating adaptive immune responses to various infectious microbes.^{10, 11} They are also involved in the pathogenesis of autoimmune and allergic diseases. Upon activation by T-cell receptor complex, naïve CD4⁺ T cells may differentiate into four major types of Th cells in the presence of different cytokines, including Th1, Th2, Th17 and inducible T-regulatory (iTreg) cells. They can be characterized by their special cytokine production profiles, transcription factors and their functions.¹² Under the stimulation of IL-12, naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into Th1 cells, mainly producing IFN-y and are vital for protective immunity against intracellular viral and bacterial infections.¹² Under the stimulation of IL-4, naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into Th2 cells, producing IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-13, and IL-25, and are critical for eliminating extracellular parasites such as helminths.¹² TGF-β and IL-6 induce naïve CD4⁺ T cells to differentiate into Th17 cells, producing IL-17, IL-17F, IL-21 and IL-22, and are important for controlling extracellular bacterial and fungi infections.¹² In the presence of TGF-β without IL-6, naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into iTreg cells. iTreg together with naturally occurring Tregulatory (nTreg) cells, are vital for maintenance of immune tolerance, and regulation of lymphocyte homeostasis, activation, and function.¹² Transcription factors also play important roles in the differentiation of Th cells and production of cytokines. The vital transcription factors of Th lineage are T-bet/Stat4 for Th1, GATA-3/Stat5 for Th2, RORyt/Stat3 for Th17, and Foxp3/Stat5 for iTreg.¹²

II. Inflammatory bowel disease

The digestive system is a set of organs that convert the foods we eat into nutrients and facilitates the absorption of these nutrients into the bloodstream to fuel our bodies. We seldom notice its function unless something goes wrong, such as what happens in inflammatory bowel disease.¹³ IBD is a chronic inflammatory disease of the gastrointestinal tract. It includes many chronic inflammatory conditions, most significantly ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). Inflammation of the intestinal mucosa in IBD is characterized by episodes of diarrhoea, bloody stools, weight loss, abdominal pain, fever, and fatigue.¹⁴

a. Epidemiology

The incidence and prevalence of IBD has markedly increased in recent years, and now IBD is considered to be one of the most prevalent gastrointestinal diseases. There are over 1.3 million IBD patients in the United States.¹³ Recent estimates from a population-based, multiple province-wide study in Canada indicate that approximately 0.5% of Canadians have IBD, and incidence rates across Canada are among the highest in the world.¹⁵

These chronic diseases usually begin in young adulthood and last throughout life. The nature and gravity of the symptoms patients endure cause it to be a very difficult disease to live with. Current therapy focuses on symptom relief by prescribing anti-inflammatory drugs or by surgical resection of the affected intestine, rather than a true cure.^{16, 17} It places a heavy burden on populations as it reduces quality of life and capacity, and has a high direct annual medicare cost.¹⁸ Thus, the importance of determining disease pathogenesis and a more effective way of treating it becomes apparent.

Over the years, many factors have been suggested as the cause of IBD, however it appears to be an extremely complex disorder with a combination of genetic and environmental factors, enteric flora, and immunological abnormalities contributing.^{19, 20} Nevertheless, through the study of patients and mouse models, it has become apparent that in both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, tissue damage likely results from an inappropriate or exaggerated immune response to antigens of the gut microflora. Targeting these exaggerated responses has emerged as a biological therapy in IBD. ^{21, 22}

b. Clinical manifestations

Crohn's disease is a chronic, progressive, granulomatous disorder that can affect the gastrointestinal tract from mouth to anus, although it commonly affects the ileum, cecum, and peri-anal area (Fig 2). This disease is a chronic inflammatory process involving the submucosa, the layer of dense irregular connective tissue that supports the mucosa (the lining involved in absorption and secretion). Transverse fissuring and crypt abscesses are common.²³ Studies have shown that inflammation may be due to an increased Th1 immune response, and to the more recently described excessive IL-23/Th17 pathway activation in response to bacterial antigens in genetically predisposed individuals. ^{24,25} Th1 cytokines (such as IFN- γ) are most likely critical in generating and perpetuating the chronic inflammation, resulting in infiltration by granulocytes and macrophages, leading to the release of enzymes, reactive oxygen intermediates, and pro-inflammatory cytokines. All of these factors contributed to the characteristic discontinuous ulceration and inflammation of CD that extends through the full thickness of the bowel wall.^{26, 27}



Figure 2: The various afflicted locations of IBD.¹

Ulcerative colitis is characterized by continuous inflammation and ulceration, but involves only the innermost lining, or mucosa, and affects only the colon and the rectum (Fig 2). Pathological findings show that UC has an increase in certain inflammatory mediators (such as IL-13 and IL-5), signs of oxidative stress, and an unbalanced colonic microflora.^{13, 20, 28} Histologically, UC shows cryptitis and crypt abscesse, a collection of dead neutrophils that has accumulated in a cavity due to damaged tissue releasing cytokines.¹⁴ There is evidence that UC is characterized by a T-helper 2 (Th2 humoral) response (enhanced cytokines IL-5, IL-6, IL-8), because of high levels of immune globulins (especially IgG1 isotype) and autoantibodies. Researchers have found that patients with UC also had one or more type of invasive or adhesive fecal coliform bacteria and higher counts of certain pathogens (Escherichia coli, Costridum difficile, Shigella sp).¹³

c. Pathogenesis of IBD

i. Genetic factors

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified 99 nonoverlapping genetic risk loci, including 71 identified in Crohn's disease and 47 in ulcerative colitis.²⁹⁻³¹ Of these genetic risk loci, 28 are shared between Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. The analysis of the genes and genetic loci identified in IBD indicates that several pathways play important roles in maintaining intestinal homeostasis, such as epithelial barrier function, innate mucosal defence, immune regulation, cell migration, autophagy, adaptive immunity, and metabolic pathways associated with cellular homeostasis.²⁹ The permeability of epithelial barrier enables microbial incursion, which is recognized by the innate immune system, which then launches appropriate tolerogenic, inflammatory, and restitutive responses partially by secreting extracelluar mediators that recruit other cells, including adaptive immune cells.²⁹

Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain 2 (NOD2) is the first gene found to be associated with Crohn's disease, which is frequently mutated in patients with Crohn's disease, occurring in around one third the patients.^{32, 33} For instance, Crohn's disease patients associated with the 1007fs mutation in the NOD2 gene show a much more severe disease phenotype than other Crohn's disease patients; while the R702W and G908R mutations lead to increased inflammatory cytokine responses.³⁴ NOD2, a member of the cytosolic Nod-like receptor (NLR) family based on their triggers and the signaling pathways that they control, is one of the two important and distinct detection systems to sense microbial invaders.³⁴ NLR proteins are found in the cytoplasmic compartment, and the other detection system is membrane-bound receptors, termed toll-like receptors (TLRs). NOD2 can recognize the minimal bioactive fragment of peptidoglycan found in the cell wall of both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacterial, called muramyl dipeptide (MDP). Thus NOD2 is thought to be important as an intracellular sensor of bacterial components.³⁴⁻³⁶ Upon binding to its ligand-MDP, a conformational change of NOD2 occurs that allows it to bind the caspase recruitment domain of the adaptor protein RIP2. RIP2 then induces the polyubiquitination of nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), an essential modulator, which is the key scaffolding protein of NF- κ B and thus activates NF- κ B, leading to secreting some proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12. It can also activate MAPK signaling pathway.^{34, 35}

NOD2 has also been implicated in the initiation of autophagy.^{29, 37} Autophagy is a highly conserved recycling process involving the degradation of cytosolic contents and organelles. It also plays a role in resistance against infection by the removal of intracellular microbes.^{29, 37} MDP stimulation can activate the autophagy process leading to confinement of intracellular bacteria within autophagosomes and subsequent control of infection.³⁸ Following bacterial recognition, NOD2 serve as molecular scaffolds for the nucleation of the autophagy machinery by physically interacting with ATG16L1. ATG16L1 is essential for all forms of autophagy. Interestingly, ATG16L1 polymorphisms are also linked to Crohn's disease like NOD2.³⁸

ii. Microbial Factors

IBD can also result from an abnormal response to intestinal microbiota. The human gastrointestinal tract is colonized at birth by a wide range of microorganisms. With many patients, tolerance is maintained and coexistence However, some pathogens can also be detrimental to the host. ³⁹ occurs. Bacteria are detected by pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) which activate the innate immune system, triggering the NF- κ B signaling pathway, ultimately stimulating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Since the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) recognized by PRRs are small and conserved within many species of pathogenic and non-pathogenic microbes, they may recognize commensal organisms and cause an imbalance in gut homeostasis, contributing to the development of intestinal inflammation.⁴⁰ Unfortunately, this system is very complex and, as a result, the specific roles of intestinal flora in inflammatory conditions, which can initiate IBD, have not been determined. However, certain intestinal microbiota clearly promotes the development of IBD.^{39, 41} For example, Clostridium difficile counts are increased in both Crohn's and ulcerative colitis patients.⁴²

Researchers have found that patients with UC also had one or more type of invasive or adhesive fecal coliform bacteria and higher counts of certain pathogens (Escherichia coli, Clostridium difficile, Shigella sp).¹³ There is

considerable data on the role bacteria play in colitis: 1) highest bacterial concentrations result in higher occurrence of bowel lesions; 2) normal enteric bacteria are needed in animals models of colitis; and 3) using anti- or probiotics to manipulate gut flora can result in symptom improvement.¹³

iii. Other environmental factors

Other environmental factors are also important in the pathogenesis of IBD. The frequency of IBD has increased in developed countries over the past 50 years and there is recent recognition of a correlation with industrialization in developing countries.^{43, 44} Diet is another dynamic player, with studies showing that foods high in fat and sugar may exacerbate the development of existing Crohn's disease.⁴⁵ Smoking affects cellular and humoral immune responses, promoting colonic mucus production.⁴³ Evidence also suggests that smoking impairs autophagy.⁴⁶ Nicotine could modulate the immune balance to Th1dominant via nAChR in the intestine, to improve Th2-type enteritis.⁴⁷ These studies propose that smoking is a disease-specific modifier that seems to aggravate Crohn's disease, while being protective against ulcerative colitis.

iv. Immunological Abnormalities

IBD is characterized by epithelial damage, infiltration of cells into the lamina propria, and by a failure to regulate the inflammatory immune response.

The activated lamina propria cells then produce high levels of TNF, IL-1 β , IFN- γ , and cytokines of the IL-23/TH17 pathway.^{21,48}

The immune system is classically divided into the innate and adaptive responses, although interplay occurs commonly between the two arms. Intestinal innate immunity includes the barrier function of intestinal mucosa, antibacterial proteins, acidic pH of the gastric juices (to limit microbial growth), innate immune cells (neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer T cells), and innate cytokines (IL-1, TNF). Proinflamamatory cytokines secreted during intestinal inflammation, such as TNF or IFN- γ , can increase epithelial permeability. Mice that have defective epithelial barrier functions develop colitis.³² Intestinal macrophages maintain homeostasis by capturing and clearing bacteria that breach the epithelial layer without initiating an inflammatory response.⁴⁹ However, IBD patients have an increased number of macrophages and also express high levels of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD40, CD80, and CD86.⁵⁰ Aberrant CD14-expressing macrophages from the mucosa of IBD patients produce high levels of IL-12 and IL-23 in vitro.51

The intestinal adaptive immune system is much more pathogen-specific and is usually initiated when innate responses cannot clear the invading pathogen. Adaptive immunity, which results in the activation of pathogen-

specific T and B cells, takes 4-14 days to become fully active after the initial insult.⁵²

The balanced response to intestinal flora is very highly regulated, determining whether a tolerant or a defensive response should occur. Deviations from this equilibrium can cause IBD.¹⁴

CD4⁺ T cells are major players in the adaptive immune response to infections. Upon activation of T-cell receptor complexes, CD4+ T cells differentiate into one of the Th subtypes important in IBD pathogenesis (Th1, Th2, Th17, and T-regulatory cells).^{10, 12}

It has been widely accepted that Crohn's disease is caused by an overly aggressive Th1 immune response.^{20, 53} The resulting infiltration of granulocytes and macrophages in the bowel leads to a release of enzymes, reactive oxygen intermediates, and proinflammatory cytokines. This causes discontinuous ulceration, full thickness bowel wall inflammation and is characterized by an excessive IL-23/Th17 pathway activation.^{19,24} Ulcerative colitis, on the other hand, is more of a Th-2 like disease, with increasing amounts of IL-5 and IL-13.^{54, 55}

Th1 cells: A number of observations indicate Th1 cells are involved in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease.^{36, 56} T cells in the colonic lamina propria of Crohn's disease patients produce large amounts of IFN- γ , and increase the

expression of IL-12Rβ2, T-bet and STAT4.⁵⁶ IFN-γ producing lamina propria lymphocytes are accumulated in the mucosa of patients. Macrophages in Crohn's disease patient produce high levels of IL-12.⁵⁶ At the initial phase of Crohn's disease, mucosal T cells mount a typical Th1 response that resembles an acute infectious process, and gradually disappear with progression to late Crohn's disease.⁵⁷ In addition, clinical responses are induced in a subcohort of patients with Crohn's disease treated with anti-IFN-γ antibody. In animal colitis model, abrogation of IFN-γ in the CD4+ CD45RB^{hi}/Rag^{-/-} transfer model potently prevents the development of colitis; T-bet-deficient CD4+CD45RB^{hi} cell cannot induce the colitis in Rag^{-/-} recipients. These results indicate that Th1 play a role in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease.⁵⁸

Th17 cells: The recent findings of the IL-23/Th17 pathway highlights the role it plays in the pathogenesis of IBD.⁵⁸ Studies have shown that large amounts of IL-17-producing cells are mainly accumulated in the lamina propria of ulcerative colitis patients, and in the submucosa and muscularis propria of Crohn's disease patients.⁵⁹ Flow cytometry analysis of mucosal cells also show that the number of IL-17 producing T cells is increased in Crohn's disease patient than in normal controls, but some of these cells co-express IFN-γ.⁶⁰ Gut biopsies grown *ex vivo* and LPMC cultured *in vitro* also produce higher levels of

IL-17 in IBD patients than in controls.⁶¹ Other Th17 cytokines, such as IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 are also increased in the inflamed tissue of IBD patients.⁶²

Treg cells: The gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is believed to be the primary site where naïve conventional CD4⁺ T cells convert to iTregs after exposure to oral antigens in a lymphopenic environment.^{63, 64} This conversion is dependent on TGF- β and retinoic acid producing CD103⁺ DCs in the GALT. It has been supposed that nTregs mainly protect against autoimmunity in location, but iTregs primarily inhibit immune responses against environmental and food antigens in the gut.⁶⁵

The dysfunction of Tregs in IBD is usually believed to be due to the defective numbers of Tregs or their suppressive function, and thus cannot control intestinal inflammation.⁶⁴ For instance, patients with a *FOXP3* gene mutation have defective Tregs and always suffer from intestinal inflammation.⁶⁶ When compared with healthy controls, the numbers of Treg are decreased in peripheral blood, but are increased in inflamed colons of patients with IBD. ⁶⁴ Also, the ratio of Tregs to Th17 in peripheral blood is reduced in IBD patients when compared with controls.⁶⁷ However, the increased number of Tregs in the colon lamina propria of IBD patients is still lower than that of patients with infectious enteritis or diverticulitis.⁶⁸ Tregs isolated from inflamed colon or peripheral blood maintained normal cell-contact-dependent, cytokine-

independent suppressive capacity in vitro.⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ However, effector T cells from IBD patients display relative resistance to Treg-mediated suppression because effector T cells express high levels of Smad7, an inhibitor of the TGF- β signalling pathway.⁷¹ These data indicate that Treg dysfunction might be due to an extrinsic milieu of activated cells that are resistant to suppression.⁶⁴

More recently, a new type of iTregs, called iTR35, have been identified which mainly produce the suppressive cytokine IL-35 (not IL-10 or TGF-β).^{72, 73} Adoptive transfer of IL-35-deficient Tregs cannot cure CD4+CD45RB^{hi}-induced murine colitis,⁷³ whereas adoptive transfer of iTR35 generated *in vitro* can significantly improve intestinal inflammation.⁷² IL-35 also shows strong ability in the control of intestinal inflammation. Administration of recombinant IL-35 significantly reduces the development of several forms of experimental colitis and reduces levels of cytokines of Th1 and Th17 cells.⁷⁴

Both iTreg and Th17 differentiation require TGF- β which induces Foxp3 and ROR γ t, so there is a fine balance existed between these two types of cells under the control of many factors.⁷⁵ For instance, low concentrations of TGF- β together with IL-6 and IL-21 induce the expression of IL-23R and promote the differentiation of Th17 cells. On the contrast, high concentrations of TGF- β inhibit the expression of IL-23R and promote the development of iTregs. Foxp3

directly interacts with RORγt to suppress its function, but IL-6, IL-21 and IL-23 down-regulate the Foxp3-mediated suppression of RORγt.⁷⁶

On the other hand, there is a close relationship between Treg and Th17 cells. Recent data have documented that memory Tregs can convert into Th17 cells under inflammatory conditions, and IL-1 is the key molecule in promoting this conversion.^{77, 78} A hybrid subpopulation of memory Tregs co-expresses Foxp3 and RORγt which, in turn, exert suppressive functions but concomitantly secret IL-17 ex vivo.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ In the presence of IL-1, IL-2, IL-23 and TGF-β, human Th17 cells preferentially differentiate from natural naïve regulatory cells, rather than from conventional CD4+CD25⁻ naïve T cells.⁸²

Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) has been shown to play a role in IBD as well. Using a DSS experimental colitis model, Sasaki *et. al*, demonstrated that disease activity was dramatically increased in eNOS^{-/-} mice compared to wild types. A loss of eNOS resulted in greater leukocyte infiltration and gut injury, exhibiting that eNOS plays a role in limited injury to the intestine during experimental colitis.⁸³

Taken together, the pathogenesis of IBD is associated with genetic susceptibility of the host, intestinal microbiota, other environmental factors, and immunological abnormalities.

d. Animal Models

The clinical manifestation of human IBD is heterogeneous, a characteristic that is also reflected by the steadily increasing number of transgenic or genetargeted mouse strains displaying IBD-like intestinal alterations. When chosen appropriately, these models can be used to investigate pathophysiological mechanisms and they are valuable tools to test emerging therapeutic strategies in the preclinical phase. As the onset of inflammation is immediate and the procedure is relatively straightforward, chemically induced models of intestinal inflammation are some of the most commonly used IBD animal models. Although they have limitations, like other models, they bare important immunological and histopathological aspects of human IBD.⁸⁴ Much of what we know about IBD mechanisms is gathered from our use of animal models that, although having similar features of IBD, also have limitations.

The two most common chemical models of IBD are dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) and 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS).⁸⁵ Both models show an inflammatory mediator cascade (such as cytokine dysregulation) that is similar to human IBD.

Hapten-induced colonic inflammation is a widely used animal model of human Crohn's disease.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸ Intrarectal delivery of 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS) resolved in ethanol induces colitis by haptenation of colonic proteins, leading to a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction by causing a Th1 reaction. This reaction leads to rapid onset of inflammation in the distal part of the colon, acting as a colitis similar to Crohn's disease, with transmural mononuclear cell infiltrate, abnormal crypt architecture, ulcerations, and occasional granulomas.

DSS-induced murine colitis is another widely used colitis model. In this model, it is believed that DSS is directly toxic to epithelial cells of the basal crypts and affects the integrity of the mucosal barrier.⁸⁹

There are at least 66 other animal models that are used to study IBD, which are classified primarily into chemical induced, cell-transfer, congenial mutant, and genetically engineered models. The most popular include IL-10 knockout, Oxazolone-induced, and IL-17 altered expression models.⁸⁹

IL-10 Knockout mice are genetically engineered to lack the IL-10 gene, and spontaneously develop colitis after three months. Enteric microbiota plays the major role in this colitis.⁸⁹

Oxazolone (4-ethoxylmethylene-2-phenyloxazol-5-one) is also a haptenating agent that causes onset of inflammation in the distal part of the colon. Characterized by severe submucosal edema and hemorrhagic inflammation, it is mediated by IL-4 and IL-13 natural killer cells.⁸⁹

The role of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of IBD has also been evaluated in animal models. IL-17 is shown to be elevated in the IL-10 knockout and RAG1 knockout mouse models of IBD.^{90, 91} Anti-IL-17 Ab ameliorates the severity of intestinal inflammation in RAG1 knockout mice reconstituted with IL-10 knockout CD4⁺ T cells.⁹¹ Deficiency of IL-17R (receptor) prevents the development of TNBS-induced murine colitis, including improving body weight loss, decreasing productions of IL-6 and local macrophage inflammatory protein-2, ameliorating colonic inflammation, and reducing tissue myeloperoxidase activity.⁹² IL-17F-deficiency improves the development of DSS-induced murine colitis, whereas IL-17-deficiency exaggerates the development of DSS-induced murine colitis, indicating that IL-17F rather than IL-17A is important in sustaining DSS colitis.⁹³

Enhanced production of IL-17 in the gut is also found in the C3H/HeSnJ SCID transfer colitis model, and adoptive transfer of IL-17-producing T cells to SCID recipients leads to severe colitis.⁹⁴ The model of CD8⁺ T cell-dependent colitis shows that a single adoptive transfer of naïve CD8⁺ T cells into syngeneic RAG-deficient mice results in severe colitis, with rapid spontaneous proliferation of these CD8⁺ T cells in MLN.⁹⁵ These CD8⁺ T cells in the MLN co-express IL-17 and IFN-γ. Adoptive transfer of naïve CD8⁺ T cells isolated from either IL-17 or IFN- γ deficient mice induced a remarkably less severe colitis, suggesting IL-17 and IFN- γ can cooperate to cause colitis in this model.⁹⁵

The role of IL-21 in murine colitis is also indicated.⁹⁶ DSS colitis and TNBSrelapsing colitis are significantly decreased in IL-21-deficient mice, which is associated with reduced expression of Th17 cell-related genes (IL-17, IL-17F and RORγt) in the colon tissue. Furthermore, blockade of IL-21 using a specific IL-21R-fusion protein improves intestinal inflammation and down-regulates Th17 responses during the course of DSS colitis.⁹⁶ Taken together, these data indicate that the Th17 pathway play important roles in the pathogenesis of IBD.

Animal models of colitis also demonstrate the role of Tregs in the control of intestinal inflammation.⁶⁴ Adoptive transfer of naïve T effector cells in the absence of Tregs into SCID mice leads to colitis, whereas co-transfer of T effector cells and Tregs does not induce colitis.⁶⁴ Furthermore, adoptive transfer of CD4+CD25+ Tregs cures established CD4+CD45RB^{hi} transfer colitis.⁹⁷ In this model, Tregs are capable of suppressing colonic inflammation by downregulating Th1 and Th17 responses depending on the presence of IL-10 and TGF-β.^{98, 99}

The cytokine network is a complex and dynamic system in which cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors regulate the initiation and perpetuation of inflammation. In CD we see a Th1 disorder, while UC is primarily associated with

Th2 type responses.⁸⁴ Given the role that Cav-1 plays in a number of cytokine signaling pathways, it seems possible that varying models might produce various results.
III. Current Biological Therapies for IBD

There are several treatment models for IBD including medication and surgery. Most commonly, doctors use drugs such as corticosteroids.¹⁰⁰ However, only around 50% of patients maintain remission using these drugs, resulting in researchers focusing on biological therapies which have shown promising results. Current biological therapies include monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) against cytokines, blockade of leukocyte migration, anti-T cell activation, small molecules, hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation, and growth factors.¹⁰¹

Administration of mAbs against TNF (such as infliximab) are effective in the treatment of Crohn's disease,^{16, 102-105} as well as ulcerative colitis.^{106, 107} Although this therapy provides a novel treatment, the agents all act as passively administered antagonists with short half-lives. For example, the half-life of infliximab is 9.5 days,¹⁰⁸ and thus, repeated injections are required to maintain the effects. Side effects to mAb treatment include acute infusion reactions and the development of antibodies to the infused mAb.^{102, 103} Another highly relevant concern is the extremely high cost (\$35,000-45,000/year per patient) associated with such passively administered therapeutics. These disadvantages limit the usefulness of this approach, as IBD is chronic and requires long-term treatment.

IV. Caveolae and Cav-1

a. Caveolae structure

Caveolae were first morphologically identified in 1953, and described as 'little caves' due to the fact that they appeared as 50 - 100nm vesicular invaginations of the plasma membrane (Fig 3A).¹⁰⁹ They are enriched in sphingolipids (lipids that contain a set of aliphatic amino alcohols that includes sphingosine and play a role in signal transmission and metabolism), cholesterol, and caveolin proteins, and are distinct from other lipid rafts due to this composition. A family of three proteins have been identified (Caveolin- 1, 2, 3) with Caveolin 1 (Cav-1) as a structural component and marker for caveolae and trans-Golgi derived transport vesicles.¹⁰⁹ All three caveolins have a constant 'FEDVIAEP' stretch (in the single-letter amino-acid code) within their hydrophilic amino-terminal domains. The functional importance of this sequence has yet to be determined, however.¹⁰⁹ The protein adopts a hairpinloop conformation in the lipid bilayer, thereby exposing both the N and C termini to the cytoplasmic surface. A stretch of amino acids referred to as the caveolin scaffolding domain interacts with many signaling proteins (Fig 3B).⁵ Cav-1 is a necessary requirement for caveolae formation as Cav-1-null cells have no caveolae and the majority of caveolae in cells and tissues require only Cav-1 for their proper formation (Fig 3C).² After Caveolin-1 synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum, caveolae biogenesis continues with the assembly of caveolin-1 oligomers. Cholesterol is essential for oligomerization, and oligomerization is critical for Cav-1 passage through the Golgi apparatus (where caveolae form) and delivery to the plasma membrane as stable units.^{110, 111}



Figure 3: Caveolae structure. A) Electron micrograph of an endothelial cell showing caveolae. B) Primary structure and topology of Cav-1. C) Diagram comparing the biochemical composition of lipid rafts and caveolae. Oligomers of caveolin cause the formation of invaginations of the plasma membrane.⁵

Cav-1 is expressed in most cell types but is enriched in adipocytes, endothelial cells, myocytes, smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, and macrophages.¹⁰⁹ These specialized lipid rafts can function as cell signalling platforms. The microdomain created by caveolae is ideal for amplification of cell signalling both through the clustering of many types of receptors and enhanced bioavailability of signalling molecules and through the direct actions of the caveolin proteins.^{109, 112} It is believed that this scaffolding ability is due to oligomerization of Cav-1.

Cav-1 has an unusual structure, with both its C-terminus and N-terminus facing the cytosol. In between is a membrane-embedded hydrophobic domain. There are two isoforms of Cav-1 – α and β . ^{2, 113}.The two forms are translated from different mRNA with Cav-1 β form starting from methionine at position 32 and being truncated by 31 residues, while α is 178 residues starting from position 1 of methionine.¹¹⁴ The two isoforms have in common a hydrophobic stretch, the scaffolding domain, and the C-terminal.⁵ The two isoforms have different potentials in caveolae formation, giving the difference in molecular composition (deep or shallow caveolae).¹¹⁴

Cav-2 is co-expressed with Cav-1 and, although not required for caveolae formation, results in the development of deeper, more uniform and more abundant caveolae. Cav-2 is retained mainly at the level of the Golgi complex. It

41

requires Cav-1 to form stable high molecular mass oligomers.¹¹⁴ It is thought that Cav-2 plays a modulatory role in caveolae biogenesis. Analysis has shown that the phosphorylation of Cav-2 is necessary to modulate Cav-1 dependent caveolae assembly.⁵

Cav-3 is a muscle specific isoform of caveolin, and the major caveolar protein of differentiated skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells.¹¹⁴ It is similar to Cav-1 in structure and function.¹¹⁵ Cav-3 also interacts with proteins, including nitric oxide synthase and type I myostatin receptor (a muscle-specific TGF-β superfamily member controlling negative regulation of skeletal muscle volume).¹¹⁶

b. Caveolae functions

i. Caveolae endocytosis

Cells use endocytosis to control the presence of receptors at the cell surface. This allows regulation of cell signalling, receptor turnover, and the magnitude or duration of events (Fig 4A).²

Caveolae contain the molecular machinery for vesicular transport and can undergo GTP-dependent, dynamin-mediated internalization from the plasma membrane. ¹¹⁷ Because of this, caveolae has been thought to participate in the transportation of macromolecules across endothelial cells through a process called transcytosis. As detailed knowledge on internalization, shuttling through the cell, and release at the surface of the endothelium is limited, caveolae trafficking is the object of intense study.²

Caveolae internalization requires local actin polymerization, the presence of cholesterol and GM1 ganglisoside (the prototype ganglioside that contains one sialic acid residue and affects repair mechanisms and the release of neurotrophins in the brain), and the involvement of kinases. Src has shown to play a major role in caveolae endocytosis. In fact, silencing Src causes caveolar structures to build up at the cell surface and reduce the movement of caveolae.²

Microtubules serve as tracks for long range transport between donor and acceptor compartments. Actin acts coordinately with this to control membrane trafficking in the caveolar system. As caveolae mediate the movement of molecules across cells, motile vesicles and tubules serve as transport intermediates between caveolae and caveosome. Experiments by Mundy *et. al* show that the distribution of caveosomes substantiates the existence of an extensive caveolar membrane system. This system may be equivalent to the endosomal membrane system. ¹¹⁸



Figure 4: Proposed functions of caveolae and the caveolins. A) Certain molecules have been shown to be endocytosed via caveolae. B) Intracellular cholesterol is thought to be transported to plasma membrane caveolae via a golgi-independent caveolin-mediated route. C) Caveolae are now thought to act as entities in which signal transduction events can take place efficiently.²

ii. Caveolae signalling

As mentioned above, Cav-1 has the ability to bind and regulate the activity of signalling proteins (Fig 3C). This interaction has been mapped to amino acids 82 – 101, and is known as the caveolin scaffolding domain (CSD). Interaction between the CSD and the signalling protein generally inhibit signalling activity of the bound protein.¹¹⁹ Binding of the CSD to the transient receptor potential channel-1 in endothelial cells, allows for Cav-1 to administrate the calcium-ion influx.¹²⁰

Also, evidence suggests that interactions can occur based on cholesterol depletion, cofraction, and coimmunoprecipitation. Despite the variability of the protein binding, there is evidence that the CSD peptide can regulate signalling of known Cav-1 interacting partners.^{119, 121}

Cav-1 is able to facilitate signalling because of its ability to provide functional platforms where multiple sets of signalling molecules are preorganized and sequestered. This provides a specific spatial and temporal compartmentalization, as the signalling machinery is carried to different locations in cells by caveolae relocation.¹²² Combining this compartmentalization with the ability of Cav-1 to directly interact with and regulate, results in an elegant regulation. eNOS is a prime example of this: compartmentalization of eNOS and other involved signalling players enhances the process leading to eNOS activation. However, direct interaction with Cav-1 maintains an inactive state of eNOS until stimulation occurs.¹²³

Cav-1 is a very complex protein, as its role in the cell extends beyond that of caveolae. It has been identified on intracellular membranes, such as Golgi structures,¹²⁴ the endoplasmic reticulum¹²⁵, and in certain mitochondria¹²⁶. It is also found in an intracellular soluble form known as cytoplasmic Cav-1. Here Cav-1 interacts with chaperone proteins to form a soluble complex with cholesterol to assist in cholesterol transport. The complex relationship between caveolae and cholesterol is well documented. Caveolae are enriched with cholesterol, yet free cholesterol is required for the proper formation of caveolae, as depletion or oxidation of cholesterol results in the loss of Cav-1 architecture. Cav-1 is one of the few proteins that binds cholesterol. Cholesterol also stabilizes caveolae oligomers.¹²⁷

Cav-1 can also be an extracellular secreted protein, as it was identified in the lumen of serous secretory vesicles of exocrine cells. There is a lot of data which links Cav-1 secretion to prostate cancer.^{128, 129} Increased expression of Cav-1 was identified in metastatic prostate cancer cells. Secreted Cav-1 seems to be biologically active and can protect the prostate cancer cells from apoptosis.¹³⁰

c. Caveolin Scaffolding Domain & Cav-1 Binding Domain

The ability of Cav-1 to bind to a variety of kinases, thereby inhibiting their activity, is now being explored as a therapeutic approach to reduce microvascular hyperpermeability and tumor progression in mice,¹³¹ to inhibit collagen and alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) expression *in vitro*, and to inhibit the progression of lung fibrosis *in vivo*.¹³² This ability has been mapped to a sequence known as the caveolin scaffolding domain (CSD). The CSD consists of amino acids 82-101 (DGIWKASFTTFTVTKYWFYR) on Cav-1 (Fig 5).^{131, 133} A peptide equivalent to the CSD, has been used to mimic the kinase-inhibiting activity. It can cross the plasma membrane when synthesized as a fusion peptide on the C terminus of the antennapedia internalization sequence (RQUIKIWFQNRRMKWKK).¹³¹ Like the intact molecule, this CSD peptide binds to and inhibits the activity of various kinases. It is particularly useful because it is functional when delivered in vivo.132,134

The CSD is the region that interacts with various proteins containing one of the caveolin-1 binding motifs.¹³⁵ The Cav-1 binding domain (CBD1) is a 16 amino acid long peptide from the HIV gp41 envelope. One of the distinct feature of the CBD1 peptide is its capacity to bind specifically caveolin-1.¹³⁶ These peptides can penetrate into cell membranes and bind to CSD, thus antagonizing Cav-1 activity directly.¹³⁷ This will inhibit the interaction with Cav-1, thus antagonizing the activity of the CSD. This may, in turn, decrease the amount of binding to the CSD and thus, lower the inhibition of it.



Figure 5: Select signalling molecules concentrate in caveolae, where they are bound to the scaffolding domain (red) of caveolin-1 (CAV1).⁴

d. Cav-1 & Disease

Cav-1 has shown importance in a number of biological functions. For example, in the context of pulmonary hypertension, short-term administration of a cell-permeable Cav-1 peptide prevents hyperactivation of the STAT3 signaling cascade and upregulation of cyclin D1 and D3 protein levels. This, in turn, prevents the development of pulmonary artery medial hypertrophy.¹³³ It has also been shown to be involved with diabetes-associated inflammation,^{138, 139} atherosclerosis,¹⁴⁰ and cardiovascular diseases.^{141, 142}

There is conflicting evidence for the role of Cav-1 in cancer, as it can act as both a tumor suppressor and as a tumor promoter. Its expression has been seen to increase or decrease depending on the tissue. In breast cancer cells, Cav-1 expression is significantly lowered when compared with normal breast tissue and Cav-1 inhibits oncogenic signalling pathways,¹⁴³ In addition to that, when Cav-1 cDNA is transfected to cancer cells, the overexpression of Cav-1 results in substantial inhibition of growth.¹⁴⁴ A decrease in Cav-1 expression (mRNA and protein level) is also seen in ovarian, gastric and colon cancer cell lines.¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷

On the other hand, in carcinoma of the thyroid Cav-1 expression is elevated, ¹⁴⁸ while Cav-1 levels are associated with tumor dedifferentiation in bladder cancer. ¹⁴⁹ Another report showed that Cav-1 enhances the invasive capability of lung cancer cells lines. ¹⁵⁰

Cav-1 also plays an important role in normal lung function, as well as pathology. It regulates acute inflammation and capillary leakage during lung injury, ¹⁵¹ as well as bleomycin-induced lung injury and fibrosis. ¹⁵²

The role of Cav-1 in inflammation is controversial. Literature has supported the role of Cav-1 in inflammatory functions. Cav-1 expression in peripheral mouse polymorphonuclear neutrophils promotes the infiltration of neutrophils to injury sites, thereby increasing the adhesion and migration responses and signaling for cytokines.¹⁵³ As well, Cav-1 suppresses transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-ß1) signalling. As TGF-ß1 represses the differentiation and activity of antigen presenting cells (such as macrophages, dendritic cells and neutrophils), a decrease in TGF-ß1 signalling, mediated by Cav-1, could result in an increase in inflammatory responses.¹⁵⁴

However, other research supports anti-inflammatory functions of Cav-1. The expression of Cav-1 in alveolar macrophages inhibited the expression of inflammatory mediators and promotes the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10.²⁶ It can act as a protective modulator in animal sepsis.¹⁵⁵ As well, Cav-1 negatively regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), which is involved with the hyperemia and permeability changes associated with acute inflammation.⁸³

e. Cav-1 and Inflammatory Bowel Disease

The intestinal immune system is finely balanced, where pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cells and molecules are carefully regulated. Since caveolae, and more specifically Cav-1, play a role in the pathogenesis of many diseases and inflammatory pathways, they have been considered as potential therapeutic targets.

Currently, there is one published study on Cav-1 and inflammatory bowel disease. Those suffering from IBD have shown to have increased vascular density correlating with disease activity. This suggests that pathological angiogenesis influences the progression of IBD.¹⁵⁶ Angiogenesis refers to the formation of new capillaries from pre-existing blood vessels. Pathological angiogenesis has been shown to lead to chronic inflammation of IBD. ¹⁵⁷ There are many mediators of this angiogenic response and caveolae are the site of regulation for many of these mediators.¹⁵⁸ As a result, Chidlow *et. al* believed that if endothelial Cav-1 is lost, the signaling components are no longer organized correctly and endothelial cell signaling is perturbed. Using a 3% DSS Cav-1 knock out model, as well as injection of the CSD peptide, they discovered that disruption of Cav-1 resulted in attenuation of disease, suggesting that endothelial caveolae are crucial points for microvascular regulation of experimental colitis. 159

Research Rationale

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a lifelong disease occurring early in life in both males and females. The incidence and prevalence of IBD has markedly increased over the last 50 years. As the quality of life improves, especially in developed countries such as Canada, the hygiene hypothesis suggests that the incidence of IBD will continue to rise.⁷⁵

A population-based, multiple province-wide Canadian study by Bernstein et al. indicates that approximately 0.5% of Canadians have IBD (about 170,000 or approximately 1 in 180); and incidence rates across the country are among the highest in the world. Unfortunately, the etiology and pathogenesis of IBD has not yet been clarified, and the current management of the disease is not efficient in controlling IBD, as there is a relatively high relapse rate.¹⁵

Roughly 30% of those afflicted with IBD are children and young adults.³³ Children generally suffer from a more severe form and are susceptible to more complications from the disease. Due to the lack of effective treatment, these patients are burdened with frequent flare-ups of the disease their entire lives, and as a result, their quality of life becomes lower than the healthy population.¹⁶⁰

Deregulation of mucosal immunity in the gut, causes an overproduction of inflammatory mediators. It has been suggested that phosphorylation of Caveolin-1 increases vacscular hyperpermeability through inflammatory mediators^{156, 158, 161} and thus may be involved in this mucosal regulation. Yet, the role of Cav-1 in IBD remains unclear. Therefore the goal of this study was to investigate the roles of Cav-1 in IBD. Determining how it regulates inflammatory mediators in various species and disease models, as well as knowledge of the interplay between Cav-1 and the immune system will help in the search for ways to block disease progression associated with fibrosis and inflammatory cytokines. Cav-1 can therefore be considered a potential therapeutic target for the treatment of IBD.

Hypothesis

Cav-1 plays an important role in the development of IBD by exacerbating intestinal inflammation. Those with higher Cav-1 levels will experience more severe DSS- & TNBS-induced murine colitis model symptoms, such as body weight loss, clinical scores, and inflammation. Genetic loss of Cav-1 will alleviate experimental murine colitis symptoms. Increasing or decreasing Cav-1 function through the use of two Cav-1 related peptides (CSD and CBD1), will alter inflammatory responses in the mouse colon. This will hopefully provide a direction towards a potential therapeutic approach for intervening IBD progression.

Study Plan and Endeavours

As outlined, caveolae play a role in the inflammatory signaling process of a number of diseases. Cav-1 inhibits oncogenic signalling pathways,¹⁴³ markedly ameliorates pulmonary fibrosis,¹⁵² and acts as a protective modulator in animal sepsis.¹⁵⁵ It has also been shown to be involved with diabetes-associated inflammation,¹³⁸,¹³⁹ atherosclerosis,¹⁴⁰ and cardiovascular diseases.^{141, 142}

Until now, only one study has reported the role of Cav-1 in experimental colitis.¹⁵⁹ Childlow *et al.* observed that endothelial Cav-1 was up-regulated during DSS-induced murine colitis and a loss of Cav-1 significantly protected against inflammatory tissue damage. The authors concluded that endothelial Cav-1 mediates angiogenesis in experimental colitis and suggested that Cav-1 might be a novel therapeutic target for IBD.¹⁵⁹

Our laboratory has developed vaccines against IL-12, IL-23 and TGF- β for the treatment of IBD and has evaluated their effects in TNBS-induced experimental murine colitis.¹⁶² In the present study, I looked to not only assess the role of Cav-1 in TNBS-induced colitis, but to also use various mouse species, including Cav-1 knock-out mice, two different disease models (TNBS and DSS), and two peptides (CSD and CBD1, which can either antagonize or mimic Cav-1 to study the role of Cav-1) in intestinal inflammation. The results of this study could lead to the development of a therapeutic strategy, thus alleviating colitis symptoms.

Specific Aims

- 1. To determine whether Cav-1 expression is altered in colon tissue in acute and chronic models of TNBS- and DSS-induced murine colitis, in two species of mice (Balb/c and C57BL/6J mice).
- 2. To assess the relation of Cav-1 levels with colon inflammation, by quantitatively determining Cav-1 levels through developing a sandwich ELISA technique
- 3. To assess the effects of complete loss of Cav-1 (Cav-1 knockout mice) on the induction and resolution of TNBS-induced colitis, and thus clarify the possible roles of Cav-1 in IBD development.
- 4. To explore whether administration of two Cav-1 related peptides affects the intensity and duration of intestinal inflammatory responses, how it alters clinical scores of mice with induced disease, and to understand their underlying immune mechanisms in models of murine colitis.

Methods

I. Animals

Female Balb/c mice (7-8 weeks old), and female and male C57BL/6J mice (10-12 weeks) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Saint-Constant, Quebec, Canada). Female C57BL/6J Cav-1 knock-out mice (Cav1^{tm1Mls}/J, 7-8 weeks old) and control C57BL/6J (7-8 weeks) mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, Maine). They were maintained at the Central Animal Care Services, University of Manitoba. All experiments were performed in accordance with the standards set by the Canadian Council for Animal Care.

II. Protocols for Induction of Colitis

Experimental colitis was induced by both TNBS and DSS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis. MO). In two TNBS-induced acute colitis experiments: Balb/c mice received 1 mg of TNBS (n=12 (normal), n=16 (TNBS)); C57BL/6J mice received 2.5 mg of TNBS at day 0 (n= 9 (Cav-1 -/- TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS), n=3 (Cav-1 -/- normal), n=7 (wild-type normal)). In one chronic colitis experiment, Balb/c mice were induced by weekly administration of increasing doses of TNBS eight times (1.0 - 2.3 mg in 45% ethanol) as previously described.^{162,163}



Figure 6: Protocol of TNBS administration. (A) Acute. (B) Chronic.

Mice were lightly anesthetized with isoflurane, and then intrarectally administered with TNBS in 45% ethanol via a 3.5 F catheter affixed to a 1-mL syringe. The catheter was advanced into the rectum to a point 4 cm proximal to the anal verge (Fig 7), and TNBS was injected to a total volume of 100 μ l. To ensure distribution of TNBS within the entire colon and cecum, mice were held in a vertical head-down position for 50 seconds after the injection. Four days (acute) and ten days (chronic) *after* the final TNBS administration, mice were sacrificed for tissue collection (Fig. 6).

In DSS-induced colitis, female and male C57BL/6J mice received 3% (w/v) DSS through drinking water for six days (n=10). Approximate 40-50ml of water per cage was drunk (four mice/cage, \sim 10-12ml/mouse). Mice were sacrificed on day 6. In the above experiments, normal mice served as controls (n=7).



Figure 7: Protocol of TNBS-induction. (A) Anesthesia (B) Delivery of TNBS (C) Vertical holding (head down) to ensure complete entry of TNBS.

III. Cav-1 Peptides

Peptides, corresponding to the full-length of the Caveolin scaffolding domain (CSD; amino acids 82-101; DGIWKASFTTFTVTKYWFYR) and of the Cav-1 binding domain (CBD1; amino acids 618-633; SLEQIWNNMTWMQWDK based on the sequence from the HIV gp41 envelope¹³⁶) were synthesized as a fusion peptide to the C terminus of the *Antennapedia* internalization sequence (RQIKJWFQNRRMKWKK) by GenScript USA Inc (Piscataway, NJ). Before each experiment, desiccated peptides were weighed and dissolved in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to 1mg/ml.

IV. Peptide Treatment

The ability of Cav-1 to bind to a variety of kinases and inhibit their activity makes it a new therapeutic target for hyperpermeability and tumor progression. The two peptides, known to mimic and antagonize Cav-1 action, will give the ability to experimentally alter the activity of Cav-1 and gain a greater understanding of the role Cav-1 plays in inflammation.

Mice received daily intraperitoneal injections of 100µl of a 0.15mM solution of CSD or CBD1 (in 10%DMSO), a 10% solution DMSO (control), or saline (normal) on day 0, two hours after TNBS injection (for CSD, CBD1 and DMSO groups), and at the same time thereafter on days 1, 2, and 3 (Fig. 8).



Figure 8: Protocol of peptide administration (n=12)

V. Body Weight and Clinical Scores

In TNBS-induced colitis, starting body weight was measured prior to TNBS administration and weights were taken daily or weekly at the same time after that. Clinical scores were also determined at that time. Each mouse was observed and given a score (out of 20) based on appearance (0-4), behaviour (0-4), body condition (0-4), stool consistency (0-4), and rectal bleeding (0-4).

In DSS-induced colitis, DSS Disease Activity Index (DAI) was used to evaluate clinical scores according to the methods previously reported (Table 1).¹⁶⁴ Body weight was measured prior to DSS administration and monitored daily. Weight loss, stool consistency, and occult blood or gross bleeding scores were taken at the same time each day.

Score	Weight loss (%)	Stool consistency °	Occult blood or gross bleeding
0	None	Normal	Negative
1	1-5	Loose stool	Negative
2	5-10	Loose stool	Hemoccult positive
3	10-15	Diarrhea	Hemoccult postivie
4	>15	Diarrhea	Gross bleeding

 Table 1. Criteria for scoring Disease Activity Index*

*Disease acitivty index = (combined score of weight loss, stool consistency, bleeding)/3

°Normal stools = well-formed pellets; loose stools = pasty stool that does not stick to anus; diarrhea = liquid stools that stick to anus.

VI. Histological examination

Colon tissue was fixed in 10% buffered formalin, for one week at room temperature and embedded in paraffin. Paraffin-embedded colon sections were cut sagittal plane($6-\mu m$), stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and examined using an Olympus IX51 light microscope equipped with CCD camera under control of Image Pro Plus software (Media Cybernetics, Inc., Bethesda, MD). The sections from each group of mice were assigned a random code to blind the examiners. Examiners were given three different parameters to estimate: severity of inflammation (based on polymorphonuclear neutrophil infiltration; 0–3: none, slight, moderate, severe), depth of injury (0–3: none, mucosal, mucosal and submucosal, transmural), and crypt damage (0-4: none, basal one-third damaged, basal two thirds damaged, only surface epithelium intact, entire crypt and epithelium lost). All values were added to a sum, in which the maximum possible score was 10.165

VII. Preparation of colon tissue extracts

Colonic samples surgically removed from the mice were mechanically homogenized with a in buffer containing 1M Tris-HCl, 3M NaCl, and 10% Triton supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis. MO) at a ratio of 1ml/100mg wet weight. Samples were then frozen (-70°C) and thawed (37°C) three times over thirty minutes, followed by centrifugation at 14,000 *rpm* for 30 min at 4°C. Supernatants were frozen at -70°C until assay.⁴⁸

VIII. Measurement of cytokines by enzyme linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA)

Levels of TNF, IL-17, and IFN-γ in colon tissue extracts were measured by ELISA according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Bioscience, Franklin Lakes, NJ). As colon tissue seizes varied, the cytokine amount in the extract was normalized to tissue weight, representing the amount per 100 milligrams.

IX. Measurement of Cav-1 levels by ELISA

In order to quantitatively measure Cav-1 levels, a sandwich ELISA protocol was developed in which two commercial purified polyclonal anti-Cav-1 antibodies were chosen. The capture antibody was rabbit anti-human Cav-1, generated from recombinant human Cav-1 (#610060, BD Transduction Laboratories, Franklin Lakes, NJ). The detection antibody was an HRPconjugated rabbit anti-human Cav-1 antibody, raised against a peptide mapping to the N-terminus of Cav-1 of human origin (#sc-894-HRP, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, California). To estimate relative amounts of Cav-1 and to minimize variations between assays, an in-house Cav-1 standard extract was prepared by pooling various samples of colon tissue extract from normal mice of both Balb/c and C57BL/6J species, known to have high levels of Cav-1 and defined as 1000 units/ml. The standard extract was aliquoted and stored at -85°C. Negative controls were taken from colon tissue extracts of C57BL/6J Cav-1 knock-out mice where no Cav-1 was detectable.

Costar microwell plates were coated with 1 μ g/ml of capture antibody in 50 mM carbonate/bicarbonate buffer, pH 9.6 (50 μ l/well) and incubated overnight at 4°C. After three washes with 0.02 M PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (pH 7.4), the wells were blocked with PBS containing 2.0% w/v BSA for 90 minutes at room temperature. Plates were washed once and samples (50 µl/well; 1:100 dilution with 0.2% BSA PBS) and standard extract dilutions (starting 1:20, 2-fold diluted for 11 dilutions) were added and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed three times and 50 μ l of detection antibody, diluted 1:2000 in 0.2% BSA in PBS, was added. After incubation for 90 minutes at 37°C, plates were washed five times and 50 µl/well of 3,3',5,5' Tetramethylbenidine (TMB) liquid substrate system for ELISA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis. MO; T 0440) was added. Plates were incubated at room temperature, in the dark, for 20 minutes. The absorbance was immediately read at 370nm. The relative amount of Cav-1 was calculated by interpolation from the dilution curve of the standard extract.

X. Detection of Cav-1 by Western blot

Colon tissue lysates were prepared in ice-cold SDS buffer (62.5 mM Tris-HCl, 2% SDS, 1mmPMSF, 1 mM protease inhibitor mix, and 1mM phosphatase inhibitor mix).

The proteins in colon samples were size fractionated by sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) on gels. Separating gel was 12% acrylamide and stacking gel was 5% acrylamide. Both upper and lower gels were prepared form a 30% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide (Fisher, Ottawa).

The Bio-Rad Protein assay kit determined total protein. Bovine serum albumin (BSA), Fraction V (Fisher, Ottawa) was used as a relative protein standard for all assays. Assay results were used to calculate the dilution required to bring all sample to a protein concentration of 3mg/ml.

Equal amounts of lysate (15µl/well) were subjected to electrophoresis. Proteins were fractioned by running the gels at constant voltage (200V) for 60-90 minutes. Fractionated proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes overnight at 35V. Membranes were then blocked with a 5% w/v dried skim milk powder in Tris buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBST) for one hour at room temperature. The membranes were then incubated overnight at 4°C with an HRP-conjugated rabbit anti-human Cav-1 antibody (#sc-894-HRP, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) diluted to by a factor of 1000 in TBST with 3% milk. Bands were visualized on film using enhanced chemiluminescence reagents (GE Healthcare Amersham ECL, Buckinghamshire, UK).

XI. Statistical analyses

All experiments were completed in triplicate. Averages between the values were used. Experimental n values are reported in figure legends. Values were expressed as mean ± standard deviation. One-way analysis of varience (ANOVA) was used to compare differences between 3 or more experimental groups dependent on a single variable followed by Tukey multiple comparison test to determine if means were significantly different from one another. Unpaired ttest was used to compare two groups (GraphPad Prism, San Diego).

The results obtained were reproducible amoung replicates between dilutions and between assays.

Cytokine ELISAs were completed according to manufacture instructions and have been established in the lab for many years, thus sensitivity was well known. The sensitivity of the cav-1 ELISA was high (1.12 U/ml).

P values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. In all figures, *represents P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001.

68

Results

I. TNBS-induced colitis in Balb/c mice

a. Body weight loss, colon inflammation and cytokine levels are significantly increased in mice receiving TNBS

As expected, mice receiving TNBS administration(s) showed significantly increased clinical scores (5.0 vs. 0, acute colitis) and displayed body weight loss (102.3 % normal vs. 98.8%, TNBS in chronic colitis at day 49; P =0.02, Fig. 9). Mice receiving TNBS typically show a dip at the beginning. TNBS works by haptenation of colonic proteins, leading to a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction by causing a Th1 reaction. This damages the colon wall and increases inflammation, resulting in severe diarrhea and loss of water, thus loss of weight.

Mice receiving TNBS also had significantly increased colon inflammation including distorted tissue architecture, inflammatory cell infiltrates and goblet cell reduction (Fig. 10 A & B). Semi-quantitative analysis showed the difference between colitis and normal mice was statistically significant (P < 0.01 in acute phase and P < 0.001 in chronic phase, Fig. 10C). After scarification, to explore possible mechanisms and anti-inflammatory effects, mouse colons were homogenized and assayed for levels of inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ , TNF and IL-17. For all three cytokines, mice that received TNBS showed increased levels

(*P's* < 0.01 for TNF and IL-17 levels in chronic phase) (Fig. 11) when compared with normal mice.



Figure 9: Body weight changes measured through to week 7 of TNBS-induced chronic colitis. Experimental colitis was induced by TNBS, Balb/c mice (n=12) received weekly administrations of increasing doses of TNBS eight times (1.0 - 2.3 mg in 45% ethanol). Comparison of body weight between Normal and TNBS on day 49, to determine ability to recover body weight, resulted in p=0.02.





Figure 10: Histological analysis of colon sections stained with H&E in TNBS-induced colitis in Balb/c mice (n=12). (A) Representative pictures of inflammation in mouse colon tissue, acute. Mice receiving TNBS had distorted tissue architecture and inflammatory cell infiltrates (arrow) (B) Representative pictures of inflammation in mouse colon tissue, chronic IBD. Mice receiving TNBS had distorted tissue architecture and inflammatory cell infiltrates (arrow) (C) Semi-quantitative evaluation. Colon sections were semi-quantitatively evaluated double-blindly by a pathologist. Scores determined by severity of inflammation 0-3; depth of injury 0-3; and crypt damage 0-4. **P<0.01; ***P<0.001





Figure 11: Cytokine levels in TNBS-induced colitis Balb/c mice (n=12) homogenized colon tissue after receving TNBS-induced colitis for five days (acute) or seven weeks (chronic) Measured by sandwich ELISA. Each experiment was duplicated and performed in triplicate. Cytokine amount in extract was normalized to tissue weight, representing the amount per 100 grams. *P<0.05; **P<0.01
b. Cav-1 levels were reduced and inversely correlated with inflammation and cytokine levels in TNBS-induced colitis

We examined colonic Cav-1 levels in mice with acute and chronic TNBSinduced colitis, using two methods, ELISA and Western blot. Interestingly, mice receiving TNBS had lower levels of Cav-1 compared to normal mice as shown by both Western blot and ELISA results (Fig. 12 A&B). In fact, in the chronic study, this decrease was especially significant (P < 0.001). To determine the connection between Cav-1 and inflammation and cytokine levels, a correlation analysis was performed. Colonic Cav-1 levels strongly trended towards being inversely correlated with colon inflammatory scores in the chronic phase (P = 0.056, r=-0.679, Fig. 13 A&B). Cav-1 levels were also inversely correlated with cytokine levels significantly (P's < 0.005; r= -0.90 for IFN- γ ; r= -0.91 for TNF; and r= -0.93 for IL-17 in chronic phase, Fig. 9 C).



Figure 12: Detection of colon Cav-1 levels in TNBS-induced colitis in Balb/c mice (n=12) (A) Representative picture of Cav-1 levels detected by Westernblot. Three different mice for each group shown. Acute study. 3mg/ml loaded. (B) Cav-1 levels measured by ELISA. Acute and Chronic studies. ***P<0.001



Figure 13: Correlation of Cav-1 levels of TNBS-induced colitis in Balb/c mice (n=12) with (A) inflammation, acute; (B) inflammation, chronic; (C) cytokine levels, chronic

II. TNBS-induced colitis in C57BL/6J and Cav-1 knockout mice (Cav-1^{-/-})

a. Genetic deletion of Cav-1 results in increased clinical symptoms

To further confirm our findings that Cav-1 may play a protective role in TNBS-induced colitis, mice genetically deficient in Cav-1 underwent the acute TNBS-induced colitis protocol. Mice genetically knocked down of the Cav-1 gene were only of the C57BL/6J species. All experiments performed with Balb/c (previous stated) were redone with the control group of the C57BL/6J knock out species. As shown in Fig. 14, mice receiving TNBS have increased body weight loss and increased clinical scoring compared with controls. In agreement with our above findings, but not with those previously reported by others in which Cav-1^{-/-} mice had significantly decreased colon inflammation in DSS-induced acute colitis,¹⁵⁹ mice lacking Cav-1 (Cav-1^{-/-}) and receiving TNBS showed significantly greater body weight loss and higher clinical scores than their wildtype counterparts (Cav-1^{+/+}) receiving TNBS. Also, Cav-1^{-/-} mice showed signs of more severe inflammation (P < 0.01), including inflammatory cell infiltration and distorted tissue architecture, which was analyzed semi-quantitatively, compared to wild-type mice receiving TNBS (Fig. 15). As shown in Fig. 15, Cav-1^{-/-} mice showed non-detectable Cav-1 levels.

Taking together, the above data indicate that Cav-1 may play a protective role in modulating disease activity and tissue inflammation in murine TNBSinduced colitis, as absence of Cav-1 results in an increase in inflammation and loss of body weight.

b. Cav-1 levels are decreased in TNBS-induced C57BL/6J mice

To determine whether Cav-1 levels were different in a different mouse strain and to provide a control for the knockout species, wild-type C57BL/6J mice received one dose of TNBS administration. As in TNBS-induced colitis, Cav-1 levels were significantly decreased in mice receiving TNBS when compared to wild-type normal mice (Fig. 16).



Figure 14: Acute TNBS-induced colitis for C57BL/6J Cav-1 knockout mice (n= 9 (Cav-1 -/- TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS), n=3 (Cav-1 -/- normal), n=7 (wild-type normal)) (A) Body weight. **P<0.01, Cav-1^{-/-} TNBS vs WT Normal; ***P<0.001, Cav-1^{-/-} TNBS vo WT TNBS (B) Clinical Scores. *P<0.05, Cav-1^{-/-} TNBS vo WT TNBS



Figure 15: Histological analysis of colon sections stained with H&E in acute TNBS-induced colitis for Cav-1 knockout mice (n= 9 (Cav-1 ^{-/-} TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS), n=3 (Cav-1 ^{-/-} normal), n=7 (wild-type normal)) (A) Colonic specimens were formalin-fixed and embedded in paraffin blocks, then 6-μm sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Representative histological images of samples from normal control and TNBS-treated mice following treatment with vaccines, carrier or saline are shown (original magnification x 100). Mice receiving TNBS had distorted tissue architecture and inflammatory cell infiltrates, with Cav-1 ^{-/-} TNBS showing severe loss of tissue architecture (arrows). (B) Semi-quantitative evaluation. Colon sections were semi-quantitatively evaluated double-blindly by a pathologist. Scores determined by severity of inflammation 0-3; depth of injury 0-3; and crypt damage 0-4. **P<0.01



Figure 16: Detection of colon caveolin-1 levels in TNBS-induced colitis for C57BL/6J Cav-1 knockout mice (n= 9 (Cav-1 -/- TNBS), n=12 (wild-type TNBS), n=3 (Cav-1 -/- normal), n=7 (wild-type normal)) (A) Cav-1 levels detected by Westernblot, three representative mice from wild-type TNBS(n=12) and wild-type normal (n=7) Cav-1^{-/-} lanes did not undergo luminescence, proving Cav-1 was not present (not shown)(B) Cav-1 levels measured by ELISA for all four groups. Cav-1 levels are non detectable in Cav-1 knockout mice. *P<0.05 WT TNBS vs WT Normal

III. DSS-induced colitis in C57BL/6J mice

a. Cav-1 expression shows no significant difference between groups

Since our findings were different from what was previously reported by Chidlow et al. 2009, in which colon Cav-1 levels were significantly increased in male C57BL/6J mice with DSS-induced acute colitis, we evaluated the levels of Cav-1 in 3% DSS-induced colitis in both female and male C57BL/6J mice. Both sexes of mice showed expected increase in Disease Activity Index (DAI) and significantly increased colon length shortening (Fig 17). However, neither group showed any significant change in Cav-1 levels in colon tissue (Fig. 18).



Figure 17: Acute DSS-induced colitis for C57BL/6J mice, male and female (n=10). (A) Disease activity index score. Normal mice show no DAI. ***P<0.001, DSS vs Normal (male and female). (B) Colon length. ***P<0.001, Normal vs DSS, Female. **P<0.01 Normal vs DSS, Male



Figure 18: Colon Cav-1 levels for acute DSS-induced colitis (n=10), male and female, measured by ELISA. No statistical significance was ascertained.

IV. Cell permeable peptides CSD and CBD1

a. Cav-1 peptides altered the clinical symptoms of TNBS-induced acute colitis in Balb/c mice

Using the two peptides (CSD and CBD1), we evaluated how mimicking the ability of Cav-1 to bind or antagonizing the interaction of Cav-1 with binding partners would affect the duration and intensity of TNBS-induced murine colitis, as well as have an effect on the onset of the disease. Mice receiving the CSD peptide had significantly increased body weight loss and clinical scores. Whereas mice receiving CBD1 showed body weight recovery similar to normal and a decrease in clinical scores (Fig. 19). To further support our findings, mice receiving the CSD peptide had significantly higher inflammatory scores than the wild-type (WT) control, while mice receiving the CBD1 peptide showed decreased inflammation (Fig 20).



Figure 19: Peptide injection in TNBS-induced acute colitis for Balb/c mice (n=12). (A) Body weight change. Mice receiving TNBS (CSD, CBD1, DMSO) showed characteristic weight drop. **P<0.01 CSD vs Normal(B) Clinical scores. **P<0.01 CSD vs Normal; DMSO vs Normal

b. Cav-1 levels are altered with cell permeable peptides; correlate with inflammatory scores.

Using Western blot (not shown) and ELISA to measure colonic Cav-1 levels, we observed that mice receiving the CBD1 peptide had near normal levels of Cav-1 – significantly higher than the CSD group as well as the DMSO control group (Fig. 21). In support of our previous findings, mice which had higher Cav-1 levels (those receiving CBD1 or normal mice) had significantly lower inflammatory scores than those with lower Cav-1 levels (CSD1 and DMSO). In fact, mice receiving CSD showed a significant increase in inflammation compared to DMSO control (Fig. 20).



Figure 20: Histological analysis of colon sections stained with H&E in acute TNBS-induced colitis for peptide injected mice (n=12). Semi-quantitative evaluation. Colon sections were semi-quantitatively evaluated double-blindly by a pathologist. Scores determined by severity of inflammation 0-3; depth of injury 0-3; and crypt damage 0-4.*P<0.05



Figure 21: Colon Cav-1 levels for peptide injected acute TNBS-induced colitis, measured by ELISA (n=12).

Discussion

Inflammatory bowel disease is a complicated, multi-factor disease. Studies are providing evidence that the pathogenesis of IBD is associated with genetic susceptibility, altered enteric flora, infectious agents and environmental triggers, and impaired immune regulation.^{9, 159}

The resulting idiopathic, chronic, and relapsing inflammation is a key focus in research today. This abnormal inflammation may be a result of an imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines from an overly aggressive immune response.¹⁶⁶

Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis are characterized by inappropriate activation of the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system thought to result from many contributing factors (genetic and environmental factors, enteric flora, and immunological abnormalities), as well as a loss of tolerance to enteric commensal bacteria. Macrophages and dendritic cells are increased in absolute number and have an activated phenotype, and the production of local proinflammatory cytokines is enhanced in IBD.^{84, 167, 168}

Recently there has been a discovery of 99 published loci/genes associated with in IBD. Amongst these are genes involved in multiple signalling pathways.¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷¹ Various signaling pathways are involved in immune cell activation. ^{172, 173} Caveolae create an ideal domain for promoting cell signaling in

general. Not only do they localize many different types of receptors, they also directly interact with various signaling molecules. Cav-1 has been shown to play a role in a number of different inflammatory conditions. Most notably is the role of Cav-1 in endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) activation.^{83, 174} eNOS and various downstream targets of the nitric oxide signaling cascade are concentrated in caveolae. eNOS interacts with the scaffolding domain of caveolin-1, causing eNOS to remain in an inactive state.¹¹⁹ As a loss of eNOS results in dramatically increased disease activity in DSS experimental colitis, this further elaborates the possible role of Cav-1 in IBD.⁸³

In 1994, Lisanti first described the role of Cav-1 in the lungs.¹⁷⁵ Since then, studies have shown the multiple roles Cav-1 plays in lung injury. Cav-1 regulates acute inflammation and capillary leakage during acute lung injury.¹⁵¹ It also suppresses proliferative activity of airway smooth muscle cells, while the expression, distribution, and associations of receptors and signalling proteins contribute to contractile responses.¹⁷⁶ The ability of Cav-1 to alter signalling pathways or regulate membrane trafficking appears to directly influence cell response. For this reason, we believed that Cav-1 may alter signaling pathways and regulate inflammation in colon tissue.

Employing a TNBS-induced murine colitis model, we induced both acute and chronic colitis in Balb/c mice and acute colitis in Cav-1^{-/-} and wild-type mice.

To quantitatively determine colonic Cav-1 levels, we developed a sandwich ELISA to measure Cav-1 levels in colon tissue lysates. We found that colon Cav-1 was significantly reduced in mice with TNBS-induced acute and chronic colitis in both Balb/c (Fig. 8) and C57BL/6J (Fig. 12B, right panel) mice. Western bloting was performed supporting the ELISA findings, as Cav-1 bands in TNBS-colitis mice appeared less dense than that in normal mice (Fig. 8A & 12A). Mice receiving TNBS had significantly decreased Cav-1 levels (P < 0.001 in chronic colitis) – a very different result than that reported in a prior study.¹⁵⁹ Further investigation showed that Cav-1 levels inversely correlated with colon inflammation and levels of inflammatory cytokines IL-17, IFN-y and TNF (P's < 0.05) (Fig. 9) in colon tissues. In both the acute and chronic models, mice with low levels of Cav-1 had higher levels of colon inflammation, while high levels of Cav-1 showed low levels of inflammation (r=0.885, P = 0.003 in the acute phase). Thus, we believe that Cav-1 may play a protective role in TNBS-induced colitis.

To further understand the relevance of our findings in TNBS-induced colitis, Cav-1 knock-out mice were used to determine what effect the complete loss of caveolin-1 would have on inflammation in TNBS-induced experimental colitis. Mice lacking Cav-1 (Cav-1^{-/-}) and receiving TNBS showed decreased body weight recovery and increased clinical scores, compared to wild-type mice receiving TNBS (Fig. 10). After H&E staining, colon sections were semi-

quantitatively evaluated in a double-blinded protocol by a pathologist. Cav-1-/mice receiving TNBS showed signs of more severe colon inflammation than wildtype mice receiving TNBS (Fig. 11). This supports my hypothesis that Cav-1 may play a protective role in regards to TNBS-induced intestinal inflammation.

A protective role for Cav-1 against inflammation could be due to the involvement of Cav-1 in cellular signalling. During caveolae associated signalling, Cav-1 acts as a scaffold protein – it binds and organizes various signalling complexes involved in diverse cell activities.¹⁰⁹ As a result, removing or mutating caveolin-1 may result in a number of disease and normal homeostatic processes being affected. Cav-1 has been shown to have a number of anti-inflammatory effects: through the regulation of eNOS, which is involved with the hyperaemia and permeability changes association with acute inflammation;¹¹⁹ by inhibiting inflammatory mediators and promoting anti-inflammatory cytokines through alveolar macrophages;¹⁷⁷ or by suppressing airway smooth muscle cell proliferation and orchestrating receptor-mediated signal transduction that regulates phenotype expression of airway smooth muscle cells.¹⁷⁶ Studies have also reported that Cav-1 protects against the effects of sepsis by modulating inflammatory responses, alleviating bacterial burden, and suppressing thymocyte apoptosis.155

Cav-1 also has an inhibitory effect on cytokine production through several mechanisms.¹⁵² It has been widely accepted that Crohn's disease is caused by an overly aggressive Th1 and Th17 immune response.¹⁹ The IL-23/Th17 response is also critical for the development of chronic intestinal inflammation.¹⁷⁸ Recent studies demonstrate Cav-1 is involved with Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) in peritoneal macrophages, suggesting that regulation of TLR4 function may occur within caveolae or lipid raft microdomains.^{179, 180} In fact, Wang *et al*, identified Cav-1 binding motifs within the amino acid sequence of murine TLR4.¹⁷⁹ Mutating this binding site abolished the interaction and reversed the inhibitory effect of Cav-1 on cytokine regulation (TNF, IL-6), indicating that Cav-1 is able to inhibit TNF production induced via TLR4. Thus, as we have seen in TNBSinduced experimental colitis, a decrease in Cav-1 is associated with higher tissue levels of TNF. The possibility that this may be due to a change in TLR4 regulation will require further study. Notably, experiments done by Tang et. al, showed that TLR4 activation is required for IL-17-induced tissue inflammation and wasting.¹⁸¹ Our study has revealed an inverse correlation between Cav-1 and IL-17 levels in the colon. This begs speculation that reduced Cav-1 may be linked to reduced inhibitory effects through TLR4, thus leading to the increase of IL-17. Studies have also reported that Cav-1 can inhibit TGF^β signaling and reduced

Cav-1 expression is associated with the activation of TGF β signaling.¹⁸² Taken together, these studies, and my own, show an anti-inflammatory effect of Cav-1.

Due to the conflicting results between our study and a previously published report, we re-evaluated Cav-1 levels in DSS-induced C57BL/6J male and female mice following the experimental procedure previously reported.¹⁵⁹ Daily evaluation of both male and female mice showed increased disease activity index and increased colon length shortening. However, ELISA determination of Cav-1 levels showed no significant differences between treated and untreated mice. This may be possibly due to the higher levels of Cav-1. A better standard for Cav-1 may alleviate this problem.

There are a few possible explanations as to why there are opposing findings for the role of caveolin-1 in experimental mouse colitis in the two studies. First, the animal models used are different. IBD is a complex interaction of genes, environment, and intestinal flora. Much of what we know about IBD is gathered from our use of animal models that, although having many similar features to IBD, also have their differences. Intrarectal delivery of TNBS induces colitis by haptenation of colonic proteins, leading to a delayed-type hypersensitivity reaction by causing Th1 and Th17 responses, the colitis similar to human CD; while DSS-induced colitis more likely represents UC.⁸⁴ In the two mouse models, distinctive disease-specific cytokine profiles were identified.

TNBS-induced colitis exhibits heightened Th1/Th17 responses (increased IL-12 and IL-17) as the disease becomes chronic. In contrast, DSS-induced colitis switches from Th1/Th17-mediated acute inflammation to a predominant Th2-mediated inflammatory response in the chronic state.^{19, 24} As Cav-1 is particularly abundant in endothelial cells, the two chemicals, TNBS and DSS, may affect endothelial cells differently.

Second, Cav-1 is a very complex membrane protein. Evidence indicates that Cav-1 function is cell context dependent resulting in different roles in diseases depending on stage or type, even being able to play opposite roles in the same disease. For example, Cav-1 can act as both a tumor suppressor and as a tumor promoter.¹⁸³ In breast cancer cells, Cav-1 expression is significantly lowered when compared with normal breast tissue.¹⁸⁴ This decrease in Cav-1 (mRNA and protein level) is also seen in gastric, colon, and ovarian cancer cell lines.¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷ On the other hand, Cav-1 expression is elevated in carcinoma of the thyroid,¹⁴⁸ associated with tumor dedifferentiation in bladder cancer,¹⁴⁹ and enhanced the invasive capability of lung cancer cells lines.¹⁵⁰

Cav-1 may positively or negatively influence the development of atherosclerosis, depending on the cell type and the metabolic pathways regulated by this protein. Endothelial-specific overexpression of Cav-1 accelerates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice,¹⁴⁰ whereas,

PPARgamma1-induced Cav-1 attenuates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein Edeficient mice.¹⁸⁵ In the cardiovascular system, one study shows that Cav-1 induces cardio-protection through epigenetic regulation,¹⁴² however, in biventricular damaged rodents, Cav-1 knock-out mice displayed decreased damage as well as decreased transcript levels of the proinflammatory marker plasminogen activator inhibitor-1.¹⁸⁶

In lung injury, Cav-1 switches roles depending on the stage of the disease. In the initial state of acute lung injury, Cav-1 contributes to polymorphonuclear neutrophil-mediated inflammation, vascular injury, and non-cardiogenic pulmonary edema.

Yet in the late stage, Cav-1 may be beneficial as a potential antifibrotic protein.^{151, 152} Given the role that Cav-1 plays in a number of cytokine signaling pathways and the fact that it can positively and negatively influence various diseases, it is not surprising that our finding of the protective role of Cav-1 is opposite to that previously reported.

To further investigate the effect of Cav-1 on IBD pathogenesis, one peptide that mimics the Cav-1 scaffolding domain (CSD), and another peptide that binds to the Cav-1 domain (CBD1), antagonizing the function of Cav-1, were synthesized and injected intraperitoneally into mice. Previous work has found that CSD mimics Cav-1 by inhibiting the functional activity of broad classes of

proteins in vitro (eNOS, G-protein, α -subunits, Ras, Src).¹⁸⁷ CBD1 has been thought to penetrate the cell membrane and interact with the cytofacial side of caveolin. This domain may be responsible for the translocation of extra-cellular caveolin-binding proteins allowing their interaction with Cav-1.¹³⁷

As our data showed that Cav-1 played a protective role in intestinal inflammation, we thought CSD (that mimics Cav-1, thereby preventing association with endogenous Cav-1) would alleviate experimental colitis symptoms, while CBD1 (that antagonizes Cav-1 function) would exacerbate the symptoms.

Results showed that, mice receiving CSD showed similar low levels of Cav-1 to the wild-type mice, while mice receiving CBD1 showed increased Cav-1 levels. In fact, CBD1 group levels were near normal (those not receiving TNBS) and significantly higher than both CSD and wild-type groups (P < 0.05). Conversely, the Cav-1 levels did correlate with TNBS-induced colitis symptoms. Mice receiving the CSD peptide (low Cav-1 levels) showed increased body weight loss and clinical scores (P < 0.05) compared to normal and wild-type mice (DMSO control). These mice also had increased inflammatory scores (P<0.01).

On the other hand, the CBD1 group (near normal Cav-1 levels) had less body weight loss (P<0.01) and significantly lower clinical scores (P<0.01) than the CSD or DMSO groups. The expected role of CBD1 in blocking downstream Cav-1-dependent signaling pathways does not easily explain these effects since our data suggests Cav-1 signaling is actually clinically beneficial in colitis models. Thus, it is possible that the effects are rather due to a novel function for CBD1 in increasing Cav-1 levels through an unknown mechanism.

The question remains as to how much of the peptide actual travels to the colon tissue, and how much is dispersed throughout the body of the mouse. As results show changes in Cav-1 colon tissue levels, it is believed that peptides are arriving in the intestines. Further studies, involving labeling of the peptides to see amount, location, and action of peptides, is needed as the administration of each peptide did alter disease activity and demonstrate a correlation between Cav-1 levels and colitis development.

Conclusion

We conclude that in TNBS-induced colitis, Cav-1 may play a protective role in experimental colitis inflammation. This suggests that enhancement of Cav-1 levels or function may be a beneficial IBD treatment. As the results are opposite to those previously reported in a DSS-induced colitis model, it raises an important issue regarding evaluations of molecule or treatment approaches in animals: varying models might produce varying results. To investigate the role of Cav-1 in inflammatory bowel disease, studies on human patients with CD or UC should be carried out to define whether the levels of Cav-1 are correlated with the severity of the disease and whether this correlation is positive or negative. It will also be necessary to look closely at the mechanistic insights derived from animal studies to determine what holds true in the human.

References

- 1. Inflammatory Bowel Disease. iCons in Medicine: Centre for International Rehabilitation, 2011.
- 2. Parat MO. The biology of caveolae: achievements and perspectives. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 2009;273:117-62.
- 3. Bach JF. The effect of infections on susceptibility to autoimmune and allergic diseases. N Engl J Med 2002;347:911-20.
- 4. Carver LA, Schnitzer JE. Caveolae: mining little caves for new cancer targets. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3:571-81.
- 5. Fujimoto T, Kogo H, Nomura R, Une T. Isoforms of caveolin-1 and caveolar structure. J Cell Sci 2000;113 Pt 19:3509-17.
- 6. Habs H. [Immunological concepts in Thucydides' works]. Zentralbl Bakteriol Mikrobiol Hyg A 1982;252:143-6.
- 7. Abul K. Abbas AHL. Basic Immunology Updated Edition: Functions and Disorders of the Immune System. Elsevier Health Sciences, 2010.
- 8. Joanne Willey LS, Chris Woolverton. Prescott's Microbiology. McGraw-Hill Science, 2010.
- 9. Danese S. Immune and nonimmune components orchestrate the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2011;300:G716-22.
- 10. Mosmann TR, Sad S. The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more. Immunol Today 1996;17:138-46.
- 11. Bettelli E, Korn T, Kuchroo VK. Th17: the third member of the effector T cell trilogy. Curr Opin Immunol 2007;19:652-7.
- 12. Zhu J, Paul WE. Peripheral CD4+ T-cell differentiation regulated by networks of cytokines and transcription factors. Immunol Rev 2010;238:247-62.
- 13. Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology 2011;140:1785-94.
- 14. Abraham C, Cho JH. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2066-78.
- 15. Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Svenson LW, MacKenzie A, Koehoorn M, Jackson M, Fedorak R, Israel D, Blanchard JF. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: a population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1559-68.

- 16. Sands BE, Anderson FH, Bernstein CN, Chey WY, Feagan BG, Fedorak RN, Kamm MA, Korzenik JR, Lashner BA, Onken JE, Rachmilewitz D, Rutgeerts P, Wild G, Wolf DC, Marsters PA, Travers SB, Blank MA, van Deventer SJ. Infliximab maintenance therapy for fistulizing Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 2004;350:876-85.
- 17. van der Marel S, Majowicz A, van Deventer S, Petry H, Hommes DW, Ferreira V. Gene and cell therapy based treatment strategies for inflammatory bowel diseases. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol 2011;2:114-22.
- 18. Bernstein CN, Loftus EV, Jr., Ng SC, Lakatos PL, Moum B. Hospitalisations and surgery in Crohn's disease. Gut 2012.
- 19. Bouma G, Strober W. The immunological and genetic basis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:521-33.
- 20. Monteleone G, Fina D, Caruso R, Pallone F. New mediators of immunity and inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2006;22:361-4.
- 21. Korzenik JR, Podolsky DK. Evolving knowledge and therapy of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2006;5:197-209.
- 22. Nakamura K, Honda K, Mizutani T, Akiho H, Harada N. Novel strategies for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: Selective inhibition of cytokines and adhesion molecules. World J Gastroenterol 2006;12:4628-35.
- 23. Blumberg RS, Neurath MF. Immune Mechanisms in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. Volume 579. New York: Springer Science, 2006.
- 24. Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 2007;448:427-34.
- 25. Monteleone I, Pallone F, Monteleone G. Interleukin-23 and Th17 cells in the control of gut inflammation. Mediators Inflamm 2009;2009:297645.
- 26. Strober W, Fuss I, Mannon P. The fundamental basis of inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest 2007;117:514-21.
- 27. Brown SJ, Mayer L. The Immune Response in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2007.
- 28. Head KA, Jurenka JS. Inflammatory bowel disease Part 1: ulcerative colitis--pathophysiology and conventional and alternative treatment options. Altern Med Rev 2003;8:247-83.
- 29. Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ. Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature 2011;474:307-17.

- 30. Franke A, McGovern DP, Barrett JC, Wang K, Radford-Smith GL, Ahmad T, Lees CW, Balschun T, Lee J, Roberts R, Anderson CA, Bis JC, Bumpstead S, Ellinghaus D, Festen EM, Georges M, Green T, Haritunians T, Jostins L, Latiano A, Mathew CG, Montgomery GW, Prescott NJ, Raychaudhuri S, Rotter JI, Schumm P, Sharma Y, Simms LA, Taylor KD, Whiteman D, Wijmenga C, Baldassano RN, Barclay M, Bayless TM, Brand S, Buning C, Cohen A, Colombel JF, Cottone M, Stronati L, Denson T, De Vos M, D'Inca R, Dubinsky M, Edwards C, Florin T, Franchimont D, Gearry R, Glas J, Van Gossum A, Guthery SL, Halfvarson J, Verspaget HW, Hugot JP, Karban A, Laukens D, Lawrance I, Lemann M, Levine A, Libioulle C, Louis E, Mowat C, Newman W, Panes J, Phillips A, Proctor DD, Regueiro M, Russell R, Rutgeerts P, Sanderson J, Sans M, Seibold F, Steinhart AH, Stokkers PC, Torkvist L, Kullak-Ublick G, Wilson D, Walters T, Targan SR, Brant SR, Rioux JD, D'Amato M, Weersma RK, Kugathasan S, Griffiths AM, Mansfield JC, Vermeire S, Duerr RH, Silverberg MS, Satsangi J, Schreiber S, Cho JH, Annese V, Hakonarson H, Daly MJ, Parkes M. Genome-wide meta-analysis increases to 71 the number of confirmed Crohn's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet 2010;42:1118-25.
- 31. Anderson CA, Boucher G, Lees CW, Franke A, D'Amato M, Taylor KD, Lee JC, Goyette P, Imielinski M, Latiano A, Lagace C, Scott R, Amininejad L, Bumpstead S, Baidoo L, Baldassano RN, Barclay M, Bayless TM, Brand S, Buning C, Colombel JF, Denson LA, De Vos M, Dubinsky M, Edwards C, Ellinghaus D, Fehrmann RS, Floyd JA, Florin T, Franchimont D, Franke L, Georges M, Glas J, Glazer NL, Guthery SL, Haritunians T, Hayward NK, Hugot JP, Jobin G, Laukens D, Lawrance J, Lemann M, Levine A, Libioulle C, Louis E, McGovern DP, Milla M, Montgomery GW, Morley KI, Mowat C, Ng A, Newman W, Ophoff RA, Papi L, Palmieri O, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Panes J, Phillips A, Prescott NJ, Proctor DD, Roberts R, Russell R, Rutgeerts P, Sanderson J, Sans M, Schumm P, Seibold F, Sharma Y, Simms LA, Seielstad M, Steinhart AH, Targan SR, van den Berg LH, Vatn M, Verspaget H, Walters T, Wijmenga C, Wilson DC, Westra HJ, Xavier RJ, Zhao ZZ, Ponsioen CY, Andersen V, Torkvist L, Gazouli M, Anagnou NP, Karlsen TH, Kupcinskas L, Sventoraityte J, Mansfield JC, Kugathasan S, Silverberg MS, Halfvarson J, Rotter JI, Mathew CG, Griffiths AM, Gearry R, Ahmad T, Brant SR, Chamaillard M, et al. Meta-analysis identifies 29 additional ulcerative colitis risk loci, increasing the number of confirmed associations to 47. Nat Genet 2011;43:246-52.

- 32. Kucharzik T, Maaser C, Lugering A, Kagnoff M, Mayer L, Targan S, Domschke W. Recent understanding of IBD pathogenesis: implications for future therapies. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12:1068-83.
- 33. Bamias G, Nyce MR, De La Rue SA, Cominelli F. New concepts in the pathophysiology of inflammatory bowel disease. Ann Intern Med 2005;143:895-904.
- 34. Yamamoto S, Ma X. Role of Nod2 in the development of Crohn's disease. Microbes Infect 2009;11:912-8.
- 35. Strober W, Kitani A, Fuss I, Asano N, Watanabe T. The molecular basis of NOD2 susceptibility mutations in Crohn's disease. Mucosal Immunol 2008;1 Suppl 1:S5-9.
- 36. Strober W, Watanabe T. NOD2, an intracellular innate immune sensor involved in host defense and Crohn's disease. Mucosal Immunol 2011;4:484-95.
- 37. Kaser A, Blumberg RS. Autophagy, microbial sensing, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and epithelial function in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 2011;140:1738-47.
- 38. Magalhaes JG, Sorbara MT, Girardin SE, Philpott DJ. What is new with Nods? Curr Opin Immunol 2011;23:29-34.
- 39. Nell S, Suerbaum S, Josenhans C. The impact of the microbiota on the pathogenesis of IBD: lessons from mouse infection models. Nat Rev Microbiol 2010;8:564-77.
- 40. Rakoff-Nahoum S, Paglino J, Eslami-Varzaneh F, Edberg S, Medzhitov R. Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required for intestinal homeostasis. Cell 2004;118:229-41.
- 41. Saleh M, Elson CO. Experimental inflammatory bowel disease: insights into the host-microbiota dialog. Immunity 2011;34:293-302.
- 42. Melgar S, Shanahan F. Inflammatory bowel disease-from mechanisms to treatment strategies. Autoimmunity 2010;43:463-77.
- 43. Ardizzone S, Bianchi Porro G. Biologic therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. Drugs 2005;65:2253-86.
- 44. Lakatos PL. Environmental factors affecting inflammatory bowel disease: have we made progress? Dig Dis 2009;27:215-25.
- 45. Hibi T, Ogata H. Novel pathophysiological concepts of inflammatory bowel disease. J Gastroenterol 2006;41:10-6.
- 46. Monick MM, Powers LS, Walters K, Lovan N, Zhang M, Gerke A, Hansdottir S, Hunninghake GW. Identification of an autophagy defect in smokers' alveolar macrophages. J Immunol 2010;185:5425-35.

- 47. Kikuchi H, Itoh J, Fukuda S. Chronic nicotine stimulation modulates the immune response of mucosal T cells to Th1-dominant pattern via nAChR by upregulation of Th1-specific transcriptional factor. Neurosci Lett 2008;432:217-21.
- 48. Abraham C, Cho J. Interleukin-23/Th17 pathways and inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:1090-100.
- 49. Bain CC, Mowat AM. Intestinal macrophages specialised adaptation to a unique environment. Eur J Immunol 2011;41:2494-8.
- 50. Rugtveit J, Nilsen EM, Bakka A, Carlsen H, Brandtzaeg P, Scott H. Cytokine profiles differ in newly recruited and resident subsets of mucosal macrophages from inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 1997;112:1493-505.
- 51. Kamada N, Hisamatsu T, Okamoto S, Chinen H, Kobayashi T, Sato T, Sakuraba A, Kitazume MT, Sugita A, Koganei K, Akagawa KS, Hibi T. Unique CD14 intestinal macrophages contribute to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease via IL-23/IFN-gamma axis. J Clin Invest 2008;118:2269-80.
- 52. Macpherson AJ, Geuking MB, McCoy KD. Innate and adaptive immunity in host-microbiota mutualism. Front Biosci (Schol Ed) 2012;4:685-98.
- 53. Shih DQ, Targan SR. Immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2008;14:390-400.
- 54. Maul J, Zeitz M. Ulcerative colitis: immune function, tissue fibrosis and current therapeutic considerations. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2012;397:1-10.
- 55. Bamias G, Kaltsa G, Ladas SD. Cytokines in the pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis. Discov Med 2011;11:459-67.
- 56. Brand S. Crohn's disease: Th1, Th17 or both? The change of a paradigm: new immunological and genetic insights implicate Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease. Gut 2009;58:1152-67.
- 57. Kugathasan S, Saubermann LJ, Smith L, Kou D, Itoh J, Binion DG, Levine AD, Blumberg RS, Fiocchi C. Mucosal T-cell immunoregulation varies in early and late inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2007;56:1696-705.
- 58. Hundorfean G, Neurath MF, Mudter J. Functional relevance of T helper 17 (Th17) cells and the IL-17 cytokine family in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2012;18:180-6.
- 59. Fujino S, Andoh A, Bamba S, Ogawa A, Hata K, Araki Y, Bamba T, Fujiyama Y. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2003;52:65-70.

- 60. Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, Parente E, Fili L, Ferri S, Frosali F, Giudici F, Romagnani P, Parronchi P, Tonelli F, Maggi E, Romagnani S. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med 2007;204:1849-61.
- 61. Rovedatti L, Kudo T, Biancheri P, Sarra M, Knowles CH, Rampton DS, Corazza GR, Monteleone G, Di Sabatino A, Macdonald TT. Differential regulation of interleukin 17 and interferon gamma production in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2009;58:1629-36.
- 62. Sarra M, Pallone F, Macdonald TT, Monteleone G. IL-23/IL-17 axis in IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010;16:1808-13.
- 63. Sun CM, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR, Belkaid Y. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3 T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med 2007;204:1775-85.
- 64. Hardenberg G, Steiner TS, Levings MK. Environmental influences on T regulatory cells in inflammatory bowel disease. Semin Immunol 2011;23:130-8.
- 65. Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ. Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? Immunity 2009;30:626-35.
- 66. Gambineri E, Perroni L, Passerini L, Bianchi L, Doglioni C, Meschi F, Bonfanti R, Sznajer Y, Tommasini A, Lawitschka A, Junker A, Dunstheimer D, Heidemann PH, Cazzola G, Cipolli M, Friedrich W, Janic D, Azzi N, Richmond E, Vignola S, Barabino A, Chiumello G, Azzari C, Roncarolo MG, Bacchetta R. Clinical and molecular profile of a new series of patients with immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome: inconsistent correlation between forkhead box protein 3 expression and disease severity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;122:1105-1112 e1.
- 67. Eastaff-Leung N, Mabarrack N, Barbour A, Cummins A, Barry S. Foxp3+ regulatory T cells, Th17 effector cells, and cytokine environment in inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Immunol 2010;30:80-9.
- 68. Maul J, Loddenkemper C, Mundt P, Berg E, Giese T, Stallmach A, Zeitz M, Duchmann R. Peripheral and intestinal regulatory CD4+ CD25(high) T cells in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 2005;128:1868-78.
- 69. Saruta M, Yu QT, Fleshner PR, Mantel PY, Schmidt-Weber CB, Banham AH, Papadakis KA. Characterization of FOXP3+CD4+ regulatory T cells in Crohn's disease. Clin Immunol 2007;125:281-90.

- 70. Himmel ME, Hardenberg G, Piccirillo CA, Steiner TS, Levings MK. The role of T-regulatory cells and Toll-like receptors in the pathogenesis of human inflammatory bowel disease. Immunology 2008;125:145-53.
- 71. Fantini MC, Rizzo A, Fina D, Caruso R, Sarra M, Stolfi C, Becker C, Macdonald TT, Pallone F, Neurath MF, Monteleone G. Smad7 controls resistance of colitogenic T cells to regulatory T cell-mediated suppression. Gastroenterology 2009;136:1308-16, e1-3.
- 72. Collison LW, Chaturvedi V, Henderson AL, Giacomin PR, Guy C, Bankoti J, Finkelstein D, Forbes K, Workman CJ, Brown SA, Rehg JE, Jones ML, Ni HT, Artis D, Turk MJ, Vignali DA. IL-35-mediated induction of a potent regulatory T cell population. Nat Immunol 2010;11:1093-101.
- 73. Collison LW, Workman CJ, Kuo TT, Boyd K, Wang Y, Vignali KM, Cross R, Sehy D, Blumberg RS, Vignali DA. The inhibitory cytokine IL-35 contributes to regulatory T-cell function. Nature 2007;450:566-9.
- 74. Wirtz S, Billmeier U, McHedlidze T, Blumberg RS, Neurath MF. Interleukin-35 mediates mucosal immune responses that protect against T-cell-dependent colitis. Gastroenterology 2011;141:1875-86.
- 75. Kaser A, Martinez-Naves E, Blumberg RS. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: implications for inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2010;26:318-26.
- 76. Zhou G, Peng Z. A novel therapeutic strategy: cytokine and IgE vaccines in treatment of autoimmune and allergic diseases. In: Xiang J, ed. Recent Developments in Immunology. Kerala, India: Transworld Research Network, 2008:369 396.
- 77. Koenen HJ, Smeets RL, Vink PM, van Rijssen E, Boots AM, Joosten I. Human CD25highFoxp3pos regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17producing cells. Blood 2008;112:2340-52.
- 78. Deknuydt F, Bioley G, Valmori D, Ayyoub M. IL-1beta and IL-2 convert human Treg into T(H)17 cells. Clin Immunol 2009;131:298-307.
- 79. Ayyoub M, Deknuydt F, Raimbaud I, Dousset C, Leveque L, Bioley G, Valmori D. Human memory FOXP3+ Tregs secrete IL-17 ex vivo and constitutively express the T(H)17 lineage-specific transcription factor RORgamma t. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:8635-40.
- 80. Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Arima K, Bover L, Hanabuchi S, Khalili J, Marinova E, Zheng B, Littman DR, Liu YJ. Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:4793-8.

- 81. Raffin C, Raimbaud I, Valmori D, Ayyoub M. Ex vivo IL-1 receptor type I expression in human CD4+ T cells identifies an early intermediate in the differentiation of Th17 from FOXP3+ naive regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2011;187:5196-202.
- 82. Valmori D, Raffin C, Raimbaud I, Ayyoub M. Human RORgammat+ TH17 cells preferentially differentiate from naive FOXP3+Treg in the presence of lineage-specific polarizing factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:19402-7.
- 83. Sasaki M, Bharwani S, Jordan P, Elrod JW, Grisham MB, Jackson TH, Lefer DJ, Alexander JS. Increased disease activity in eNOS-deficient mice in experimental colitis. Free Radic Biol Med 2003;35:1679-87.
- Alex P, Zachos NC, Nguyen T, Gonzales L, Chen TE, Conklin LS, Centola M, Li X. Distinct cytokine patterns identified from multiplex profiles of murine DSS and TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2009;15:341-52.
- 85. Wirtz S, Neurath MF. Mouse models of inflammatory bowel disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2007;59:1073-83.
- 86. Te Velde AA, Verstege MI, Hommes DW. Critical Appraisal of the Current Practice in Murine TNBS-induced Colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12:995-999.
- 87. Jurjus AR, Khoury NN, Reimund JM. Animal models of inflammatory bowel disease. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 2004;50:81-92.
- 88. Byrne FR, Viney JL. Mouse models of inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel 2006;9:207-17.
- 89. Wirtz S, Neufert C, Weigmann B, Neurath MF. Chemically induced mouse models of intestinal inflammation. Nat Protoc 2007;2:541-6.
- 90. Lytle C, Tod TJ, Vo KT, Lee JW, Atkinson RD, Straus DS. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand rosiglitazone delays the onset of inflammatory bowel disease in mice with interleukin 10 deficiency. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2005;11:231-43.
- 91. Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, Kleinschek MA, Owyang A, Mattson J, Blumenschein W, Murphy E, Sathe M, Cua DJ, Kastelein RA, Rennick D. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest 2006;116:1310-6.
- 92. Zhang Z, Zheng M, Bindas J, Schwarzenberger P, Kolls JK. Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12:382-8.

- 93. Yang J, Yang M, Htut TM, Ouyang X, Hanidu A, Li X, Sellati R, Jiang H, Zhang S, Li H, Zhao J, Ting AT, Mayer L, Unkeless JC, Labadia ME, Hodge M, Li J, Xiong H. Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 3 negatively regulates IL-17, IL-22 and RORgamma t. Eur J Immunol 2008;38:1204-14.
- 94. Elson CO, Cong Y, Weaver CT, Schoeb TR, McClanahan TK, Fick RB, Kastelein RA. Monoclonal anti-interleukin 23 reverses active colitis in a T cell-mediated model in mice. Gastroenterology 2007;132:2359-70.
- 95. Tajima M, Wakita D, Noguchi D, Chamoto K, Yue Z, Fugo K, Ishigame H, Iwakura Y, Kitamura H, Nishimura T. IL-6-dependent spontaneous proliferation is required for the induction of colitogenic IL-17-producing CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med 2008;205:1019-27.
- 96. Fina D. Regulation of gut inflammation and th17 cell response by interleukin-21. Gastroenterology 2008;134:1038-48.
- 97. Mottet C, Uhlig HH, Powrie F. Cutting edge: cure of colitis by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2003;170:3939-43.
- 98. Ogino H, Nakamura K, Ihara E, Akiho H, Takayanagi R. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress Th17-responses in an experimental colitis model. Dig Dis Sci 2011;56:376-86.
- 99. Uhlig HH, Coombes J, Mottet C, Izcue A, Thompson C, Fanger A, Tannapfel A, Fontenot JD, Ramsdell F, Powrie F. Characterization of Foxp3+CD4+CD25+ and IL-10-secreting CD4+CD25+ T cells during cure of colitis. J Immunol 2006;177:5852-60.
- 100. Lichtenstein GR, Hanauer SB, Sandborn WJ. Management of Crohn's disease in adults. Am J Gastroenterol 2009;104:465-83; quiz 464, 484.
- 101. Bai A, Peng Z. Biological therapies of inflammatory bowel disease. Immunotherapy 2010;2:727-42.
- Sandborn W, William J. Strategies for targeting tumour necrosis factor in IBD. Baillière's best practice & research. Clinical gastroenterology 2003;17:105-117.
- 103. Sandborn WJ. New concepts in anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. Rev Gastroenterol Disord 2005;5:10-8.
- 104. Asteria CR, Ficari F, Bagnoli S, Milla M, Tonelli F. Treatment of perianal fistulas in Crohn's disease by local injection of antibody to TNF-alpha accounts for a favourable clinical response in selected cases: a pilot study. Scand J Gastroenterol 2006;41:1064-72.
- 105. de Ridder L, Benninga MA, Taminiau JA, Hommes DW, van Deventer SJ. Infliximab use in children and adolescents with inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2007;45:3-14.

- 106. Rutgeerts P, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Reinisch W, Olson A, Johanns J, Travers S, Rachmilewitz D, Hanauer SB, Lichtenstein GR, de Villiers WJ, Present D, Sands BE, Colombel JF. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2462-76.
- 107. Sands BE, Kaplan GG. The Role of TNF{alpha} in Ulcerative Colitis. J Clin Pharmacol 2007.
- 108. Cornillie F, Shealy D, D'Haens G, Geboes K, Van Assche G, Ceuppens J, Wagner C, Schaible T, Plevy SE, Targan SR, Rutgeerts P. Infliximab induces potent anti-inflammatory and local immunomodulatory activity but no systemic immune suppression in patients with Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2001;15:463-73.
- 109. Williams TM, Lisanti MP. The Caveolin genes: from cell biology to medicine. Ann Med 2004;36:584-95.
- 110. Parat MO, Stachowicz RZ, Fox PL. Oxidative stress inhibits caveolin-1 palmitoylation and trafficking in endothelial cells. Biochem J 2002;361:681-8.
- 111. Tagawa A, Mezzacasa A, Hayer A, Longatti A, Pelkmans L, Helenius A. Assembly and trafficking of caveolar domains in the cell: caveolae as stable, cargo-triggered, vesicular transporters. J Cell Biol 2005;170:769-79.
- 112. Chidlow JH, Jr., Sessa WC. Caveolae, caveolins, and cavins: complex control of cellular signalling and inflammation. Cardiovasc Res 2010;86:219-25.
- 113. Hnasko R, Lisanti MP. The biology of caveolae: lessons from caveolin knockout mice and implications for human disease. Mol Interv 2003;3:445-64.
- 114. Krajewska WM, Maslowska I. Caveolins: structure and function in signal transduction. Cell Mol Biol Lett 2004;9:195-220.
- 115. Capozza F, Combs TP, Cohen AW, Cho YR, Park SY, Schubert W, Williams TM, Brasaemle DL, Jelicks LA, Scherer PE, Kim JK, Lisanti MP. Caveolin-3 knockout mice show increased adiposity and whole body insulin resistance, with ligand-induced insulin receptor instability in skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2005;288:C1317-31.
- 116. Capozza F, Cohen AW, Cheung MW, Sotgia F, Schubert W, Battista M, Lee H, Frank PG, Lisanti MP. Muscle-specific interaction of caveolin isoforms: differential complex formation between caveolins in fibroblastic vs. muscle cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2005;288:C677-91.
- 117. del Pozo MA, Balasubramanian N, Alderson NB, Kiosses WB, Grande-Garcia A, Anderson RG, Schwartz MA. Phospho-caveolin-1 mediates integrin-regulated membrane domain internalization. Nat Cell Biol 2005;7:901-8.
- 118. Mundy DI, Machleidt T, Ying YS, Anderson RG, Bloom GS. Dual control of caveolar membrane traffic by microtubules and the actin cytoskeleton. J Cell Sci 2002;115:4327-39.
- 119. Bucci M, Gratton JP, Rudic RD, Acevedo L, Roviezzo F, Cirino G, Sessa WC. In vivo delivery of the caveolin-1 scaffolding domain inhibits nitric oxide synthesis and reduces inflammation. Nat Med 2000;6:1362-7.
- 120. Sowa G. Caveolae, caveolins, cavins, and endothelial cell function: new insights. Front Physiol 2012;2:120.
- 121. Komarova Y, Malik AB. Regulation of endothelial permeability via paracellular and transcellular transport pathways. Annu Rev Physiol 2010;72:463-93.
- 122. White MA, Anderson RG. Signaling networks in living cells. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 2005;45:587-603.
- 123. Sbaa E, Frerart F, Feron O. The double regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by caveolae and caveolin: a paradox solved through the study of angiogenesis. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2005;15:157-62.
- 124. Luetterforst R, Stang E, Zorzi N, Carozzi A, Way M, Parton RG. Molecular characterization of caveolin association with the Golgi complex: identification of a cis-Golgi targeting domain in the caveolin molecule. J Cell Biol 1999;145:1443-59.
- 125. Schlegel A, Arvan P, Lisanti MP. Caveolin-1 binding to endoplasmic reticulum membranes and entry into the regulated secretory pathway are regulated by serine phosphorylation. Protein sorting at the level of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 2001;276:4398-408.
- 126. Li WP, Liu P, Pilcher BK, Anderson RG. Cell-specific targeting of caveolin-1 to caveolae, secretory vesicles, cytoplasm or mitochondria. J Cell Sci 2001;114:1397-408.
- 127. Smart EJ, Ying Y, Donzell WC, Anderson RG. A role for caveolin in transport of cholesterol from endoplasmic reticulum to plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 1996;271:29427-35.
- 128. Kuo SR, Tahir SA, Park S, Thompson TC, Coffield S, Frankel AE, Liu JS. Anticaveolin-1 antibodies as anti-prostate cancer therapeutics. Hybridoma (Larchmt) 2012;31:77-86.

- 129. Bryant KG, Camacho J, Jasmin JF, Wang C, Addya S, Casimiro MC, Fortina P, Balasubramaniam S, Knudsen KE, Schwarting R, Lisanti MP, Mercier I. Caveolin-1 overexpression enhances androgen-dependent growth and proliferation in the mouse prostate. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2011;43:1318-29.
- Liu P, Li WP, Machleidt T, Anderson RG. Identification of caveolin-1 in lipoprotein particles secreted by exocrine cells. Nat Cell Biol 1999;1:369-75.
- 131. Tourkina E, Richard M, Gooz P, Bonner M, Pannu J, Harley R, Bernatchez PN, Sessa WC, Silver RM, Hoffman S. Antifibrotic properties of caveolin-1 scaffolding domain in vitro and in vivo. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2008;294:L843-61.
- 132. Bernatchez PN, Bauer PM, Yu J, Prendergast JS, He P, Sessa WC. Dissecting the molecular control of endothelial NO synthase by caveolin-1 using cell-permeable peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:761-6.
- 133. Jasmin JF, Mercier I, Dupuis J, Tanowitz HB, Lisanti MP. Short-term administration of a cell-permeable caveolin-1 peptide prevents the development of monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension and right ventricular hypertrophy. Circulation 2006;114:912-20.
- 134. Ghosh S, Gachhui R, Crooks C, Wu C, Lisanti MP, Stuehr DJ. Interaction between caveolin-1 and the reductase domain of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. Consequences for catalysis. J Biol Chem 1998;273:22267-71.
- 135. Liu P, Rudick M, Anderson RG. Multiple functions of caveolin-1. J Biol Chem 2002;277:41295-8.
- 136. Hovanessian AG, Briand JP, Said EA, Svab J, Ferris S, Dali H, Muller S, Desgranges C, Krust B. The caveolin-1 binding domain of HIV-1 glycoprotein gp41 is an efficient B cell epitope vaccine candidate against virus infection. Immunity 2004;21:617-27.
- 137. Benferhat R, Sanchez-Martinez S, Nieva JL, Briand JP, Hovanessian AG. The immunogenic CBD1 peptide corresponding to the caveolin-1 binding domain in HIV-1 envelope gp41 has the capacity to penetrate the cell membrane and bind caveolin-1. Mol Immunol 2008;45:1963-75.
- 138. Yamamoto M, Toya Y, Schwencke C, Lisanti MP, Myers MG, Jr., Ishikawa Y. Caveolin is an activator of insulin receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 1998;273:26962-8.
- 139. Fagerholm S, Ortegren U, Karlsson M, Ruishalme I, Stralfors P. Rapid insulin-dependent endocytosis of the insulin receptor by caveolae in primary adipocytes. PLOS ONE 2009;4:e5985.

- 140. Fernandez-Hernando C, Yu J, Davalos A, Prendergast J, Sessa WC. Endothelial-specific overexpression of caveolin-1 accelerates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Am J Pathol 2010;177:998-1003.
- 141. Murata T, Lin MI, Huang Y, Yu J, Bauer PM, Giordano FJ, Sessa WC. Reexpression of caveolin-1 in endothelium rescues the vascular, cardiac, and pulmonary defects in global caveolin-1 knockout mice. J Exp Med 2007;204:2373-82.
- 142. Das M, Das DK. Caveolae, caveolin, and cavins: Potential targets for the treatment of cardiac disease. Ann Med 2011.
- 143. Bouras T, Lisanti MP, Pestell RG. Caveolin-1 in breast cancer. Cancer Biol Ther 2004;3:931-41.
- 144. Witkiewicz AK, Dasgupta A, Sammons S, Er O, Potoczek MB, Guiles F, Sotgia F, Brody JR, Mitchell EP, Lisanti MP. Loss of stromal caveolin-1 expression predicts poor clinical outcome in triple negative and basal-like breast cancers. Cancer Biol Ther 2010;10:135-43.
- 145. Wiechen K, Diatchenko L, Agoulnik A, Scharff KM, Schober H, Arlt K, Zhumabayeva B, Siebert PD, Dietel M, Schafer R, Sers C. Caveolin-1 is down-regulated in human ovarian carcinoma and acts as a candidate tumor suppressor gene. Am J Pathol 2001;159:1635-43.
- 146. Juhasz M, Chen J, Tulassay Z, Malfertheiner P, Ebert MP. Expression of caveolin-1 in gastrointestinal and extraintestinal cancers. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2003;129:493-7.
- 147. Bender FC, Reymond MA, Bron C, Quest AF. Caveolin-1 levels are downregulated in human colon tumors, and ectopic expression of caveolin-1 in colon carcinoma cell lines reduces cell tumorigenicity. Cancer Res 2000;60:5870-8.
- 148. Ito Y, Yoshida H, Nakano K, Kobayashi K, Yokozawa T, Hirai K, Matsuzuka F, Matsuura N, Kakudo K, Kuma K, Miyauchi A. Caveolin-1 overexpression is an early event in the progression of papillary carcinoma of the thyroid. Br J Cancer 2002;86:912-6.
- 149. Rajjayabun PH, Garg S, Durkan GC, Charlton R, Robinson MC, Mellon JK. Caveolin-1 expression is associated with high-grade bladder cancer. Urology 2001;58:811-4.
- 150. Ho CC, Huang PH, Huang HY, Chen YH, Yang PC, Hsu SM. Up-regulated caveolin-1 accentuates the metastasis capability of lung adenocarcinoma by inducing filopodia formation. Am J Pathol 2002;161:1647-56.

- 151. Jin Y, Lee SJ, Minshall RD, Choi AM. Caveolin-1: a critical regulator of lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2011;300:L151-60.
- 152. Wang XM, Zhang Y, Kim HP, Zhou Z, Feghali-Bostwick CA, Liu F, Ifedigbo E, Xu X, Oury TD, Kaminski N, Choi AM. Caveolin-1: a critical regulator of lung fibrosis in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Exp Med 2006;203:2895-906.
- 153. Hu G, Ye RD, Dinauer MC, Malik AB, Minshall RD. Neutrophil caveolin-1 expression contributes to mechanism of lung inflammation and injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2008;294:L178-86.
- 154. de Laurentiis A, Donovan L, Arcaro A. Lipid rafts and caveolae in signaling by growth factor receptors. Open Biochem J 2007;1:12-32.
- 155. Feng H, Guo L, Song Z, Gao H, Wang D, Fu W, Han J, Li Z, Huang B, Li XA. Caveolin-1 protects against sepsis by modulating inflammatory response, alleviating bacterial burden, and suppressing thymocyte apoptosis. J Biol Chem 2010;285:25154-60.
- 156. Chidlow JH, Jr., Langston W, Greer JJ, Ostanin D, Abdelbaqi M, Houghton J, Senthilkumar A, Shukla D, Mazar AP, Grisham MB, Kevil CG. Differential angiogenic regulation of experimental colitis. Am J Pathol 2006;169:2014-30.
- 157. Rutella S, Fiorino G, Vetrano S, Correale C, Spinelli A, Pagano N, Arena V, Maggiano N, Repici A, Malesci A, Danese S. Infliximab therapy inhibits inflammation-induced angiogenesis in the mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2011;106:762-70.
- 158. Koutroubakis IE, Tsiolakidou G, Karmiris K, Kouroumalis EA. Role of angiogenesis in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2006;12:515-23.
- 159. Chidlow JH, Jr., Greer JJ, Anthoni C, Bernatchez P, Fernandez-Hernando C, Bruce M, Abdelbaqi M, Shukla D, Granger DN, Sessa WC, Kevil CG. Endothelial caveolin-1 regulates pathologic angiogenesis in a mouse model of colitis. Gastroenterology 2009;136:575-84 e2.
- 160. Duffy CM, Wells GA, Russell AS, Haraoui B. Quality of life issues in pediatric immune-mediated inflammatory disease. J Rheumatol Suppl 2011;88:20-5.
- 161. Sun Y, Hu G, Zhang X, Minshall RD. Phosphorylation of caveolin-1 regulates oxidant-induced pulmonary vascular permeability via paracellular and transcellular pathways. Circ Res 2009;105:676-85, 15 p following 685.

- 162. Guan Q, Ma Y, Hillman CL, Qing G, Ma AG, Weiss CR, Zhou G, Bai A, Warrington RJ, Bernstein CN, Peng Z. Targeting IL-12/IL-23 by employing a p40 peptide-based vaccine ameliorates TNBS-induced acute and chronic murine colitis. Mol Med 2011;17:646-56.
- 163. Fichtner-Feigl S, Fuss IJ, Young CA, Watanabe T, Geissler EK, Schlitt HJ, Kitani A, Strober W. Induction of IL-13 triggers TGF-beta1-dependent tissue fibrosis in chronic 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid colitis. J Immunol 2007;178:5859-70.
- 164. Murthy SN, Cooper HS, Shim H, Shah RS, Ibrahim SA, Sedergran DJ. Treatment of dextran sulfate sodium-induced murine colitis by intracolonic cyclosporin. Dig Dis Sci 1993;38:1722-34.
- 165. Moriyama I, Ishihara S, Rumi MA, Aziz MD, Mishima Y, Oshima N, Kadota C, Kadowaki Y, Amano Y, Kinoshita Y. Decoy oligodeoxynucleotide targeting activator protein-1 (AP-1) attenuates intestinal inflammation in murine experimental colitis. Lab Invest 2008;88:652-63.
- 166. Knigge KL. Inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Cornerstone 2002;4:49-60.
- 167. Sagynbaeva VE, Lazebnik LB, Kniazev OV, Efremov LI. [Dynamics of proinflammatory cytokines during biologic therapy of inflammatory bowel disease]. Eksp Klin Gastroenterol 2012:47-58.
- 168. Rutella S, Locatelli F. Intestinal dendritic cells in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 2011;17:3761-75.
- 169. Lees CW, Barrett JC, Parkes M, Satsangi J. New IBD genetics: common pathways with other diseases. Gut 2011;60:1739-53.
- 170. Polgar N, Csongei V, Szabo M, Zambo V, Melegh BI, Sumegi K, Nagy G, Tulassay Z, Melegh B. Investigation of JAK2, STAT3 and CCR6 polymorphisms and their gene-gene interactions in inflammatory bowel disease. Int J Immunogenet 2012.
- 171. Werner L, Berndt U, Paclik D, Danese S, Schirbel A, Sturm A. TNFalpha inhibitors restrict T cell activation and cycling via Notch-1 signalling in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2011.
- 172. Bennett M, Yu H, Clarke M. Signalling from dead cells drives inflammation and vessel remodelling. Vascul Pharmacol 2012;56:187-92.
- 173. Jin H, Zhu ZG, Yu PJ, Wang GF, Zhang JY, Li JR, Ai RT, Li ZH, Tian YX, Zhang WX, Wu SG. Myrislignan Attenuates Lipopolysaccharide-induced Inflammation Reaction in Murine Macrophage Cells Through Inhibition of NF-kappaB Signalling Pathway Activation. Phytother Res 2012.

- 174. Bernatchez P, Sharma A, Bauer PM, Marin E, Sessa WC. A noninhibitory mutant of the caveolin-1 scaffolding domain enhances eNOS-derived NO synthesis and vasodilation in mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:3747-55.
- 175. Lisanti MP, Scherer PE, Tang Z, Sargiacomo M. Caveolae, caveolin and caveolin-rich membrane domains: a signalling hypothesis. Trends Cell Biol 1994;4:231-5.
- 176. Halayko AJ, Tran T, Gosens R. Phenotype and functional plasticity of airway smooth muscle: role of caveolae and caveolins. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2008;5:80-8.
- 177. Garrean S, Gao XP, Brovkovych V, Shimizu J, Zhao YY, Vogel SM, Malik AB. Caveolin-1 regulates NF-kappaB activation and lung inflammatory response to sepsis induced by lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol 2006;177:4853-60.
- 178. McGovern D, Powrie F. The IL23 axis plays a key role in the pathogenesis of IBD. Gut 2007;56:1333-6.
- 179. Wang XM, Kim HP, Nakahira K, Ryter SW, Choi AM. The heme oxygenase-1/carbon monoxide pathway suppresses TLR4 signaling by regulating the interaction of TLR4 with caveolin-1. J Immunol 2009;182:3809-18.
- 180. Tsai TH, Chen SF, Huang TY, Tzeng CF, Chiang AS, Kou YR, Lee TS, Shyue SK. Impaired Cd14 and Cd36 expression, bacterial clearance, and Toll-like receptor 4-Myd88 signaling in caveolin-1-deleted macrophages and mice. Shock 2011;35:92-9.
- 181. Tang H, Pang S, Wang M, Xiao X, Rong Y, Wang H, Zang YQ. TLR4 activation is required for IL-17-induced multiple tissue inflammation and wasting in mice. J Immunol 2010;185:2563-9.
- 182. Le Saux CJ, Teeters K, Miyasato SK, Hoffmann PR, Bollt O, Douet V, Shohet RV, Broide DH, Tam EK. Down-regulation of caveolin-1, an inhibitor of transforming growth factor-beta signaling, in acute allergen-induced airway remodeling. J Biol Chem 2008;283:5760-8.
- 183. Sainz-Jaspeado M, Martin-Liberal J, Lagares-Tena L, Mateo-Lozano S, Garcia del Muro X, Tirado OM. Caveolin-1 in sarcomas: friend or foe? Oncotarget 2011;2:305-12.
- 184. Lee SW, Reimer CL, Oh P, Campbell DB, Schnitzer JE. Tumor cell growth inhibition by caveolin re-expression in human breast cancer cells. Oncogene 1998;16:1391-7.
- 185. Hu Q, Zhang XJ, Liu CX, Wang XP, Zhang Y. PPARgamma1-induced caveolin-1 enhances cholesterol efflux and attenuates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Vasc Res 2010;47:69-79.

- 186. Pojoga LH, Romero JR, Yao TM, Loutraris P, Ricchiuti V, Coutinho P, Guo C, Lapointe N, Stone JR, Adler GK, Williams GH. Caveolin-1 ablation reduces the adverse cardiovascular effects of N-omega-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester and angiotensin II. Endocrinology 2010;151:1236-46.
- 187. Okamoto T, Schlegel A, Scherer PE, Lisanti MP. Caveolins, a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing "preassembled signaling complexes" at the plasma membrane. J Biol Chem 1998;273:5419-22.